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Packaging Dynamics

March 26, 2004

To Our Fellow Shareholders:

2003 was a very exciting, eventful and productive year for Packaging Dynamics. It was our first full year as an independent,
public company and was a success by almost any measure. Packaging Dynamics exited the year a very different and much
stronger company.

During 2003, we achieved significantly improved financial performance from continuing operations — our core converting
operations. Net sales increased 2.5% to $243.4 million, reflecting strong unit growth partially offset by product mix shifts
which negatively impacted sales dollars. Adjusted income from operations increased 15.3% to $18.6* million and adjusted
operating income margins improved to 7.6%* compared to 6.8%* in 2002. Adjusted earnings per share increased 23.2% to
$0.85%.

We continued to make significant investments in our business during 2003 consistent with our objectives of growing revenue,
improving operating performance and increasing financial returns. In the fourth quarter, we completed the installation of five
new bag making machines (two in Chicago and three in Baxter Springs) which will improve our ability to serve customers in
the food packaging market. We expect these state-of-the art machines to improve product quality, customer response times
and manufacturing productivity — leading to improved earnings and reduced working capital levels.

We strengthened our ability to serve customers in a range of specialty lamination markets with the acquisition of the
Lamination Division of Ormet Corporation in December. This business consists of one converting operation in Iuka,
Mississippi which produces laminated foil products for the insulation, food packaging and label stock markets.

During the third quarter, we made a strategic decision to exit the specialty paper business and close the Detroit paper mill.
Although the mill operated at a high level of efficiency, its capacity and capability limitations made it difficult to remain
competitive in a market with significant excess capacity. The exit from the specialty paper business will sharpen our focus
on the core converted products business. In addition, we expect the mill closure to have a neutral impact on our cash flow
and our new paper supplier relationships (which are operating well) to contribute to future margin improvements.

In addition to our many operational successes, we also completed several important financial initiatives. In the third
quarter, we refinanced our senior bank debt to provide increased financial flexibility in support of our growth strategy. In
the fourth quarter, we initiated a quarterly cash dividend which reflects our confidence in the company’s ongoing cash
generating ability. The first $0.05 per share dividend was paid in January, 2004 and the second will be paid in April, 2004.

As we think about the future of Packaging Dynamics, we have reason to be confident. We believe that our asset base and
cost structure are the most competitive in the markets we serve with further opportunities for improvement. Equally as
important, we have the financial and human resources to improve on our existing market leadership positions while
continuing to expand into new markets and product categories.

We would like to thank our employees, customers and shareholders for their support and loyalty during 2003. We are
particularly appreciative of the efforts our 940 employees have displayed in continuing to meet the requirements of our
customers while rising to meet the new challenges associated with operating as an independent public company. We look
forward to another successful year in 2004 and remain committed to those objectives and actions which will enhance
shareholder value.

Sincerely,
Frank V. Tannura Phillip D. Harris
Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer

* We encourage you to read our 2003 earnings press release dated February 5, 2004 (available at our web site
www.pkdy.com) and our 2003 Form 10-K (delivered with this letter) which include discussion and reconciliation to
GAAP financial measures of adjustments associated with our separation from Ivex Packaging Corporation in 2002 and
certain other actions taken during 2002 and 2003.
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PART I

Item 1. Business
Organization and Structure

Packaging Dynamics Corporation (the “Company” or “Packaging Dynamics”) is a Delaware corporation
established as a holding company to own all of the interest in Packaging Dynamics Operating Company
(“PDOC”). PDOC is a Delaware corporation which is the parent company of all our current operating
subsidiaries. In this annual report, except where the context requires otherwise, the terms “we,” “us” and
“our” refer to Packaging Holdings, L.L.C. (“Packaging Holdings” or “PHLLC”) and its subsidiaries for the
periods as of and prior to the July 1, 2002 contribution of all of the Packaging Holdings limited liability
company interests to Packaging Dynamics, and to Packaging Dynamics and its subsidiaries for the periods
thereafter.

Overview

Packaging Dynamics Corporation was formed in 1998 as part of a strategic plan to create a premier
flexible packaging company that specialized in providing value-added packaging products for markets with
attractive margins and growth rates. Today we are a converter of paper, foil and film into products that serve a
wide variety of end use markets, operating six converting plants in five states and employing 940 people.

In November 1998, we acquired the bag and sandwich wrap converting assets of Bagcraft Corporation of
America, or BCA, with manufacturing plants located in Chicago, Illinois and Baxter Springs, Kansas and the
Detroit paper mill assets of IPMC, Inc., a subsidiary of Ivex Packaging Corporation (“Ivex”) located in
Detroit, Michigan. We believed that this combination of assets would serve as a platform for sales and
earnings growth, combining internal growth from product extensions and market penetration with external
growth from strategic add-on acquisitions.

In July 1999, we acquired International Converter, Inc. (“ICI”), a leading converter of aluminum foil
and paper-based laminated products for food and industrial applications with plants located in Belpre and
Caldwell, Ohio. ICI strengthened and broadened our existing product offering and market presence in the
foodservice market and propelled us to a leadership position in the laminated foil market.

In October 2002, we extended our market share in the quick service restaurant (“QSR”) market by
acquiring Wolf Packaging Inc. (“Wolf’), a manufacturer of foil and paper sandwich wraps located in
Fort Madison, Iowa and a significant supplier to several key accounts in the quick-service restaurant industry.

In October 2003, the Company shut down the Detroit paper mill and exited the Specialty Paper
operation.

In December 2003, the Company acquired the net assets of the Iuka Lamination Division of Ormet
Corporation (“Tuka”) located in Iuka, Mississippi. Iuka has enhanced the company’s capabilities to provide
paper and foil laminated products for the food packaging, label stock and insulation markets.

Markets

We serve numerous markets including foodservice, distribution, retail, supermarket, prepared food and
several industrial markets. Within these markets, we provide products for a wide variety of end users, including
QSR chains, food processors, bakeries, supermarkets, delicatessens and concessions. We believe that we have
leading market share positions with each of our core products. These positions are the result of a continuous
focus on product innovation and the building of a broad product portfolio and customer base. We have the
opportunity to continue to grow these positions through a combination of geographic expansion, market
growth and the addition of new products to our portfolio. Qur ability to construct products from a variety of
substrates either singularly, or in combination, allows us to meet a broad range of customer needs in today’s
rapidly changing food packaging market.




Products

We believe that we are a leading supplier of printed bags, fast food foil and paper sandwich wrap sheets,
can liner, label stock, blister pack, pouch stock and insulation facing. We presently supply products.to more
than 1,000 customers, many of which are among the most well recognized names in our markets. We have
developed a number of proprietary innovations including the Dubl-Wax bag, which was the first specialty-
waxed bag serving the retail bakery industry, and the fog free window bag for hot-item carry-outs. These
products include “to go” packaging, coffee bags, coated foil, wax laminations and lidding products. We
manufacture what we believe to be one of the most diversified lines of flexible packaging in the U.S. packaging
industry, with over 300 different types of bags, sheets and laminated products. Our products are sold through
distributors as well as directly to the end user, primarily in.North America. We also produce a highly
specialized insulation facing for the European market that is used in the production of foam insulation.

Research and Development

We have significant resources fully dedicated to product development in bags {Chicago, Illinois) and foil-
paper laminations (Caldwell, Ohio). We have a strong reputation in the market for creativity, new product
innovation and responsiveness to our customers. Qur development programs are customer driven and focused
on specific customer product requests. Our product development personnel have many years of experience in
the field, and we believe we have the broadest product development capability within the markets in which we
compete. A key component of our value proposition is to provide “Innovative Solutions” for our customers.

Converting Capabilities

We operate six converting facilities in five states (Ohio, Illinois, Towa, Mississippi, and Kansas),
providing national coverage across each of our product categories and markets. The manufacturing of our
“products involves” conversion-of raw materials; consisting of various types of paper, foil, inks, coatings and
adhesives, into a variety of converted products for a wide range of flexible packaging end uses. Our converting
capabilities include extensive expertise in the lamination of aluminum foil, film and paper, as well as in
flexographic and gravure printing with both water and solvent based inks, slitting, sheeting and die cutting. We
believe that our in-line printing and fabrication process enables us to produce food packaging bags and sheets
more efficiently than our competitors who utilize multiple steps to manufacture a comparable product. We
have continued to invest to improve quality, cost performance and productivity. Since 2002, we have installed
five new bag machines which will lead to continued improvement in asset utilization, faster response times and
a continued reduction in working capital. We expect to continue to invest in the capabilities of our converting
assets to provide a long-term competitive advantage New technology continues to offer attractive investment
opportunities in all of our businesses.

Competition

We operate in markets that are highly competitive with substantial competition throughout each of our
product lines from numerous competitors on both a national and regional basis. Many of these competitors are
significantly smaller, privately-held companies but tend to have lower fixed costs and greater operating
flexibility. There is also competition from alternative products to include plastic-, board-, paper- and foil-based
converted products. In addition to price, competition is based increasingly on product quality, breadth of
product offering, product innovation, supplier response time, and complete order fulfiliment.

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we employed approximately 940 people, 382 of whom are covered by collective
bargaining agreements. Of our 382 unionized employees as of December 31, 2003, 66 employees are based in
Belpre, Ohio and are represented by the United Steelworkers of America under a contract that expires in May
2005; 288 employees are based in Chicago, Illinois and are represented by the International Brotherhood of
Teamsters Local 743 under a contract scheduled to expire in December 2005; and 28 employees are based in
Tuka, Mississippi and are represented by the United Steelworkers of America under a contract that expires in
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August 2007. There have been no interruptions or curtailments of our operations due to labor disputes since
our inception, and we believe that relations with our employees are good; however, as these labor contracts
expire, there can be no assurances that there will be no strikes, work stoppages or other labor disputes as we
negotiate such contracts.

Raw Materials

Paper and aluminum foil have historically represented the largest portion of our raw materials. Generally,
these raw materials are readily available from a wide variety of suppliers. Costs for all of the significant raw
materials used by us tend to fluctuate with various economic factors which generally affect us and our
competitors. The Company made a strategic decision to shut down the Detroit paper mill, which had provided
approximately 45-50% of the paper we consumed. The Company has entered into supply arrangements that
provide for both a secure supply of paper and the opportunity to continue to work to lower the cost of paper
through lower basis weights, consolidation of grades and product development. The Company contracts to buy
aluminum ingot, attempting to match purchases to contracted sales volume where possible. The Company
locks in the cost of converting ingot to foil on an annual basis. The Company believes that its scale of
purchases of both foil and paper provides it with a competitive advantage in the markets in which each
competes. The availability of raw materials was adequate during 2003 although prices for aluminum foil and
paper are volatile and may continue to fluctuate, in some instances adversely to us.

Intellectual Property

We own a number of U.S. patents and trademarks that collectively are important to our business, but no
single one of which is material to us. We believe that our intellectual property rights and licensing rights are
adequate for our business and have an active program to maintain these rights.

Customers, Sales and Backlog

We have relationships with numerous customers in each of our product categories. Although we do not
currently have a single customer that accounts for 10% or more of our net sales, the loss of one or more of our
largest customers, while not anticipated, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or
results of operations. In general, we believe that the backlog of orders is not material to an understanding of
our business.

Environmental Matters and Government Regulation

Since many of our packaging products are used in the food industry, we are subject to the manufacturing
standards of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Historically, compliance with the standards of the food
industry has not had a material effect on our earnings, capital expenditures or competitive position. There can
be no assurance, however, that compliance with those standards will not have a material adverse effect on our
future operating results or financial condition.

Qur manufacturing operations are subject to federal, state and local regulations governing the environ-
ment and the discharge of materials into air, land and water, as well as the handling and disposal of solid and
hazardous wastes. As is the case with manufacturers in general, if a release of hazardous substances occurs on
or from our properties or any associated offsite disposal location, or if contamination from prior activities is
discovered at any of our properties, we may be held liable. From time to time, we are involved in regulatory
proceedings and inquiries relating to compliance with environmental laws, permits and other environmental
matters. We believe that we are in material compliance with applicable environmental regulations and do not
believe that costs of compliance, if any, will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of
operation, or liquidity. In 2004 we will have additional costs related to our ongoing program to clear the site,
recover assets and digpose of the Detroit property, although the total amount of such costs are not currently
estimable. There can be no assurance, however, that items will not require additional expenditures beyond
those that are anticipated and that additional expenditures, if any, would not have a material adverse effect on
our operating results or financial condition.




Financial Information About Segments and Geographic Areas

The Company is a flexible packaging converter supplying products to multiple markets that include food
service, consumer products, bakery, supermarket, distribution and certain industrial markets. In 2003, the
Company operated within, and sold to customers throughout, the U.S., Canada and Europe historically in two
industry segments — converting operations and specialty paper. The converting operations segment is a
converter of paper, film and foil for use in a wide variety of markets. The specialty paper segment
manufactured numerous grades of paper and was exited during 2003 with the shutdown of the Detroit paper
mill.

Merger and Distribution

On March 18, 2002, the board of directors of Ivex approved a merger agreement providing for the merger
with Ivex of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Alcoa Inc. (“Alcoa”). As a result of the merger, Ivex became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Alcoa on July 1, 2002. The merger was conditioned upon, among other things, the
prior distribution to Ivex stockholders and option holders of Ivex’s 48.19% ownership interest in Packaging
Holdings. To facilitate the distribution, Ivex formed Packaging Dynamics, a C-corporation for income tax
purposes, to be the holding company for all of the ownership interests in Packaging Holdings. In preparation
for the distribution, Ivex and the other members of Packaging Holdings exchanged their ownership interests in
Packaging Holdings for common stock of Packaging Dynamics. On July 1, 2002, Ivex distributed its shares of
Packaging Dynamics to its stockholders and certain of its option holders immediately prior to the merger. The
consolidated financial statements of Packaging Dynamics presented herein include the results of consolidated
operations, financial position and cash flows of Packaging Holdings.

Also in connection with the merger and distribution, a new holding company structure was created by
contributing all of the limited liability company interests of Packaging Holdings to Packaging Dynamics, a C-
corporation for income tax purposes, in exchange for the common stock of Packaging Dynamics; the $12,500
12% subordinated note payable to Ivex, plus accreted interest, totaling approximately $19,238 was canceled;
and a consulting agreement with Ivex was canceled. The impact of the distribution is reflected on the
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) as formation of
Packaging Dynamics Corporation. The impact on Stockholders’ Equity of the distribution includes (i) an
increase of $19,238 resulting from the cancellation of the $12,500 12% subordinated note payable to Ivex;
(ii) a decrease of $9,200 resulting from additional deferred tax liabilities due to Packaging Dynamics’ C-
corporation status; (iii) an increase of $423 resulting from the repayment of certain advances and obligations
of members of Packaging Holdings; and (iv) a decrease of $366 resulting from expenses associated with the
transaction. In the preceding discussion, dollar amounts are stated in thousands.

On July 1, 2002, the Company issued 9,437,750 shares of common stock in connection with the merger
and distribution. Prior to July 1, 2002, the Company ownership consisted of membership units. Accordingly,
no earnings per share information has been presented for any period prior to July 1, 2002.

In September 2003, in conjunction with the refinancing of our senior credit facility, we merged Packaging
Holdings with Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company and parent company of all
our operating subsidiaries and of which Packaging Holdings was a sole member, and converted the surviving
limited liability company into a Delaware corporation which we named Packaging Dynamics Operating
Company.

Our principal executive offices are located at 3900 West 43rd Street, Chicago, Illinois 60632, and our
telephone number is (773) 843-8000. Our home page on the Internet is www pkdy.com. We make our web
site content available for informational purposes only. It should not be relied upon for investment purposes,
nor is it incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K.




Item 2. Properties

Our principal properties consist of our manufacturing locations. Shown below are the locations of the
principal properties which we own or lease. We believe our facilities are suitable and adequate for the purposes

for which they are used and are adequately maintained.

Owned Facilities

Location Square Feet Principal Use

Chicago, llinois..................... 148,000 Office, Manufacturing and Warehouse
Baxter Springs, Kansas . .............. 265,000 Office, Manufacturing and Warehouse
Caldwell, Ohio . ..................... 117,000 Office, Manufacturing and Warehouse
Belpre, Ohio........................ 81,000 Office, Manufacturing and Warehouse
Detroit, Michigan ................... 255,000 Office, Manufacturing and Warehouse

Leased Facilities

Location Square Feet Principal Use

Chicago, Illinois(1).................. 65,000 Office, Warehouse

Fort Madison, Towa(2) ............... 58,000 Office, Manufacturing and Warehouse
Tuka, Mississippi(3) ................. 90,000 Office, Manufacturing and Warehouse

(1) Lease expires in 2026, subject to termination at our election in 2006, and from time to time thereafter,
upon specified notice.

(2) Lease expires in 2009, subject to our right to extend the lease for two successive five-year periods upon
our written notice to the lessor.

(3) Sublease expires in 2004, subject to our right to extend the lease for 54 consecutive annual renewal terms
of one (1) year each through September 30, 2058 and one (1) final automatic renewal term of nine
(9) years ending September 30, 2067.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are currently a party to various legal proceedings in various federal and state jurisdictions arising out
of the operations of our business. The amount of alleged liability, if any, from these proceedings cannot be
determined with certainty; however, we believe that our ultimate liability, if any, arising from the pending legal
proceedings, as well as from asserted legal claims and known potential legal claims which are probable of
assertion, taking into account established accruals for estimated liabilities, should not be material to our
financial condition or results of operations.

?




Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of the security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2003.

Executive Officers of the Company

Set forth below are the name, age, positions and offices held (as of the date hereof) and a brief account of

Frank V. Tannura ........ , 47
Phillip D. Harris ......... 60
Henry C. Newell ......... 46
Randy L. Van Antwerp.... 52
Jeremy S. Lawrence ...... 53
Thomas J. WZ)lf .......... 57

the business experience for each executive officer of the Company.

Information

Mr. Tannura has served as the Chairman of Packaging
Dynamics since July 1, 2002, a Director of the Company
since March 2002 and as a member of the Packaging
Holdings management commiitee since November 1998.
Prior to July 2002 Mr. Tannura was a Director, Executive
Vice President and the Chief Financial Officer of Ivex.

Mr. Harris has served as a Director, the President and Chief
Executive Officer of Packaging Dynamics since March 2002
and has held those offices with Packaging Holdings since
January 2001. Prior to his employment with us, Mr. Harris
was Vice President of Operations for Fort James
Corporation, a consumer tissue products manufacturer, from
1993 to 2001.

Mr. Newell has served as Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Packaging Dynamics since January
2003. Prior to his employment with us, Mr. Newell was
Director, Project Management at Georgia Pacific
Corporation from 2001 to 2002 and held general
management and controller positions with Fort James
Corporation from 1995 to 2001.

Mr. Van Antwerp has served as Vice President and General
Manager — Food Packaging since January 2002 and as Vice
President of Sales and Marketing of the Bagcraft division
since January 2001. Prior to joining Packaging Holdings in
2001, Mr. Van Antwerp served as General Manager of
Georgia Pacific Corporation’s Dixie Food Wrap business.

Mr. Lawrence has served as Vice President and General
Manager — Specialty Laminations since October 2001. He
joined Packaging Holdings in August 2000 as Vice President
of Human Resources. Mr. Lawrence served as Vice
President — Human Resources for Ivex from 1991 to July
2000.

Mr. Wolf has served as Vice President of Business
Development since October 2002. Previously, he was
President of Wolf Packaging Inc., which he founded in
1990. He has worked in the foodservice packaging industry
since 1976,




PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ), under the ticker symbol PKDY. The high and low sales
prices for the common stock by quarter during 2003 and 2002 as reported by the NASDAQ are shown below.

Prices
Quarters Ended High Low
12731703 e e e e e $12.24 $8.14
00/30/03 . o $ 8.69 $6.68
06/30/03 . o e e e e $ 781  $5.29
03730703 . e e e $ 6.90 $5.75
1273170 e e $ 6.60 $5.24
00728702 . e e $ 720 $5.10

The approximate number of shareholders of record of our common stock as of March 17, 2004 was 441
holders. On January 6, 2004 the Company paid a $0.05 cash dividend per share of common stock to
shareholders of record as of December 15, 2003. Any payment of cash dividends in the future will be at the
discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend upon the financial condition, capital requirements and our
earnings as well as other factors that our Board of Directors may deem relevant.




Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the selected
consolidated statement of operations data for each of the three years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001 for Packaging Dynamics Corporation have been derived from audited consolidated financial statements
included elsewhere in this annual report. The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31,
2001, 2000, and 1999 and the selected consolidated statement of operations data for the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 1999 for Packaging Dynamics Corporation have been derived from audited
consolidated financial statements not included in this annual report.

The selected financial data set forth below related to periods prior to July 1, 2002, do not reflect the many
changes that occurred in our operations, capitalization and tax status in connection with and as a result of our
new corporate holding company structure. The selected financial data are not.necessarily indicative of what
our results of operations or financial position would have been had we operated as an independent public
company during the periods presented, nor is it necessarily indicative of our future results of operations or
financial position. The selected financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the audited consolidated financial
statements and related notes included elsewhere in this annual report.

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Statement of operations data: (1) :
Netsales .................. e $243,444 $237.430 $212,900 $201,634 $176,968
Costofsales ..........c it . 209,472 207,336 185964 175482 149,694
Operating expenses . . ....c.cuuvrirernernnnenn. 16,193 18,144 12,994 20,355 16,945
Income from operations ........................ 17,779 11,950 13,942 5,797 10,329
Interest €Xpense. . .. ..vvi i 5,674 5,982 9,350 10,114 8,000
Income (loss) before income taxes.............. . 12,105 5,968 4,592 °  (4,317) 2,329
Income tax provision (benefit)(2) ............... 4,736 2,521 603 (338) 100
Income (loss) from continuing operations ... ...... 7,369 3,447 3,989 (3,479) 2,229
Income (loss) from discontinued operations .. ... .. (22,089 - (2,516)  (1,645)  (1,721) 1,451
Net Income (loss) ..., (14,720) 931 2,344 (5,200) 3,680
Balance sheet data (end of period): ‘ - o
Total aSSets . ...ttt e 138,659 166,355 160,010 169,901 176,764
Total liabilities. .......................... e 107,269 120,648 126,013 137,421 139,084
Long-term debt, including note payable to related 1 .

PaATLY « vttt 66,700 67,710 94,962 100,536 110,746
Stockholders’ equity/Members’ equity ............ 31,390 45,707 33,997 32,480 37,680

(1) The financial data of Packaging Dynamics Corporation include the acquisition of the net assets of Iuka,
as of December 5, 2003, Wolf, as of October 23, 2002, and ICI as of July 14, 1999,

(2) Prior to July 1, 2002, for income tax purposes, Packaging Holdings’ federal and state taxable income,
other than income generated by ICI, was reported by its members on their income tax returns as if the
company were a partnership.




Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion including the Summary and Outlook should be read in conjunction with our
financial statements and accompanying notes thereto, and the other financial information included elsewhere
in this annual report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements. Please see “Special Note
Regarding Forward-Looking Statements™ for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions
associated with these statements. In the discussion that follows, dollar amounts other than per share data are
stated in thousands.

In 2003, the Company began reporting its financial results in two segments. The Converting Operations
segment included all the converting operations of the Company. The Specialty Paper segment included the
Detroit Paper mill operation. With the shutdown of the Detroit paper mill, the Specialty Paper segment is now
reported as a discontinued operation and the Converting Operations segment now represents the Company’s
continuing operations.

Summary and Outlook

2003 was Packaging Dynamics’ first full year as a public company. During 2003, we successfully
integrated the acquisition of Wolf; made a strategic decision to exit the Specialty Paper operation and shut
down the Detroit paper mill in the fourth quarter; successfully refinanced the senior credit facility; declared
the first quarterly cash dividend in the history of the Company; and completed the acquisition of the net assets
of the Tuka Lamination Division of Ormet Corporation in the fourth quarter.

We start 2004 a much different company than we did in 2003. The shutdown of the Detroit paper mill
will allow management to sharpen its focus on expanding sales and profits in our core converting products. The
Company will continue to grow the top line from both internal growth and targeted acquisitions. Operating
margins continued to improve in 2003. In 2004, we will see upward pressure on raw material costs in both
aluminum foil and paper as the underlying cost of ingot and pulp trend up, but as a result of the investments in
productivity improvements and the opportunities around sourcing paper, we believe that we will be able to
continue the same rate of operating margin improvement in 2004.

Financial Performance
Net Sales

Net sales grew 2.5% to $243,444 in 2003. Reflected in the results for 2003 is the impact of shifts from foil
to paper products by several customers in our foodservice markets and the strategic exit of certain products
and customers in our distribution and retail markets, which were offset by increased sales volume related to
the Wolf acquisition. The flexibility to shift products between various substrates, such as paper, foil, and film,
is a strength for the Company. The Company maintained or improved its position on most major contracts in
2003. The Company believes it is well positioned to respond to our customers as they introduce new menu
items in response to the increasing focus on nutrition of their customers.

Net sales increased 11.5% during the year ended December 31, 2002 over net sales during the
corresponding period in 2001. The increase resulted primarily from additional volume associated with
promotional business of higher sales price foil-based sandwich wrap products with major quick service
restaurants and the acquisition of Wolf during the fourth quarter of 2002, Overall, net sales of food packaging
products increased $28,528 during 2002 compared to the prior year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit increased 12.9% from $30,094 to $33,972 in 2003 compared to the corresponding period in
the prior year with gross profit margin at 14% which was 10.2% higher than 2002. The improved margin
reflects the ongoing impact of our productivity investments in converting equipment; lower manufacturing
overhead as we continue to reduce overall staffing levels; and improving product mix as we exit unprofitable
products and customers. Raw material and energy costs had no material impact on 2003 gross profit compared
to 2002.
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Gross profit increased. 11.7% during 2002 compared to 2001 primarily as a result of increased sales
volume. Gross profit margin remained constant at 12.7% during 2002. The gross profit margin was favorably
impacted by the product mix as well as lower raw material and energy costs offset by increased competitive
pricing in the marketplace, primarily for specialty paper.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $1,392 or 8.6% during the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 compared to the corresponding period in 2002. As a percentage of net sales, selling and
administrative expenses decreased to 6.1% during 2003 compared to 6.8% in 2002. Excluding the effect of
long-term incentive compensation expenses in 2002 discussed below, selling, general and administrative
expenses increased in 2003 compared to 2002. This was primarily due to the acquisition of Wolf, costs of
realigning the finance and information technology groups and the incremental expense associated with a full
year operating as a public company in 2003.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $4,596 or 39.9%, during 2002 compared to 2001.
As a percentage of net sales, selling, general and administrative expenses increased to 6.8% during 2002
compared ‘to 5.4% during 200L. The increase resulted primarily from long-term incentive compensation
expense discussed below, higher selling expenses associated with the sales and marketing efforts and increased
insurance costs. On July 1, 2002, Packaging Dynamics granted to management, for incentive purposes and in
consideration of their waiver of cash payments under the 2001 Long Tem Incentive Compensation Plan (the
“2001 LTIP™), stock options for the purchase of an aggregate of 814,787 shares of its common stock under the
2002 Long Term Incentive Stock Plan. Additionally, on July 1, 2002, Packaging Dynamics granted to certain
former employees stock options for the purchase of an aggregate of 29,047 shares of its common stock under
individual nonqualified stock option agreements in consideration of their waiver of cash payments under the
2001 LTIP. The options have an exercise price of $3.90 per share, which was below the fair market value of
Packaging Dynamics’ common stock on the grant date and 730,622 options, although fully vested, are not
exercisable for three years after the grant date. Consequently, for such options we have the right to repurchase
an executive’s options if he terminates employment before the end of the three-year period. We recorded a
non-cash compensation charge of $2,667 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 related to these
management incentive plans. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 and 2001, we recorded no
expense related to this plan. During 2003, 56,304 of these options were canceled and 7,274 were exercised. As
of December 31, 2003, 667,044 of these options remain outstanding.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization of intangibles increased $138, or 27.3%, during 2003 compared to 2002.
The increase was due to amortization of non-compete agreements related to the Wolf acquisition.

Depreciation and amortization decreased $821, or 61.9%, during 2002 compared to 2001. The decrease
primarily results from the elimination of goodwill amortization during 2002, partially offset by the amortiza-
tion of certain intangibles associated with the Wolf acquisition. On January 1, 2002, we adopted
SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. This statement requires that goodwill and intangible
assets with indefinite lives to no longer be amortized but to instead be tested for impairment at least annually.
Other intangible assets with determinable lives will continue to be amortized over their useful lives. The
application of this statement resulted in the reduction of goodwill amortization of $930 for the year ended -
. December 31, 2002 compared to the corresponding period in 2001. ‘

Asset Sales and Disposals

We continue our efforts to upgrade the capabilities of our manufacturing operations. During 2003 and
2002, we idled certain converting equipment in our Chicago, Illinois and Baxter Springs, Kansas manufactur-
ing facilities due to the purchase of five new bag machines in 2003. The new bag machines have improved
productivity on several product categories. These manufacturing improvements and certain other productivity
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improvements resulted in a loss in 2003 and 2002 of $813 and $1,510, respectively, on the sale or disposal of
the equipment.

Ameviserve Bad Debt Provision

Ameriserve began to experience cash flow problems during late 1999 and filed for bankruptcy in January
2000. We recorded a bad debt provision during 2000 of $3,420 for all of the Ameriserve receivables that
became uncollectible in connection with the bankruptcy. During 2001, we settled certain preferential payment
claims for $135.

Income from Operations

Income from operations and operating margin were $17,779 and 7.3%, respectively, during 2003
compared to income from operations and operating margin of $11,950 and 5.0%, respectively, during 2002.
Excluding the assets sale and disposal charges in both 2002 and 2003, and the long-term incentive
compensation charge in 2002 income from operations for 2003 was $18,592 and operating margin was 7.6%
and for 2002 was $16,127 and 6.8%, respectively. The improvement in operating income and margins from
2002 to 2003 reflects the ongoing impact of investments in converting assets, reduced manufacturing overhead,
improving raw material costs and sales mix.

Income from operations and operating margin were $11,950 and 5.0%, respectively, during 2002,
compared to $13,942 and 6.5%, respectively, during 2001, The decrease in operating income from 2001 to
2002 resulted primarily from the increased operating expenses including the asset sales and disposals and long-
term incentive compensation charge, partially offset by the elimination of amortization of goodwill. Excluding
the asset sales and disposals and long-term incentive compensation charge during 2002 and the Ameriserve
bad debt provision and amortization of goodwill during 2001, income from operations and operating margins
were $16,127 and 6.8%, respectively, during 2002 and $15,007 and 7.0%, respectively, during 2001. An
increase in gross profit of $3,158 in 2002 compared to 2001 was more than offset by the $2,667 compensation
expense and the $1,510 loss on sale and disposal of assets recorded in 2002.

Interest Expense

Interest expense during 2003 was $5,674 compared to $5,982 during the same period in 2002. The
decrease in interest expense in 2003 compared to 2002 resulted primarily from decreased average outstanding
indebtedness as a result of reductions in working capital and the forgiveness of the 12% Promissory Note
payable to Ivex. The average interest rates on borrowings were approximately 6.21% and 7.60% for the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Interest expense during 2002 was $5,982 compared to $9,350 during 2001. The decrease in interest
expense in 2002 compared to 2001 resulted primarily from decreased interest rates and average outstanding
indebtedness as a result of reductions in working capital and the forgiveness of the 12% Promissory Note
payable to Ivex. The average interest rates on borrowings were approximately 7.60% and 9.60% for the years
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The paid-in-kind interest expense on the 12% Promissory
Note was $871 in 2002 compared with $1,688 in 2001, reflecting the cancellation of the 12% Promissory Note
payable to Ivex as of July 1, 2002,

Income Taxes

The Company recorded income tax expense of $4,736 in 2003 compared to $2,521 in 2002. The
Company’s effective tax rate on income from continuing operations is 39.1% and 42.2% for 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

To facilitate the distribution on July 1, 2002, a new holding company structure was created by
contributing all of the limited liability company interests of Packaging Holdings to Packaging Dynamics, a C-
corporation for income tax purposes, in exchange for the common stock. Prior to the distribution, the members
of Packaging Holdings reported federal and state taxable income on their income tax returns as if it were a
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partnership. ICI has remained a taxable C-corporation from the time we acquired it in July 1999 through the
date of the distribution. The income tax provision for 2002 was $2,521 compared to $603 in 2001. The increase
in income tax provision was primarily associated with our change in filing status.

Income from Continuing Operations

Net Income from Continuing Operations was $7,369, $3,447 and $3,989 for 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively. The increase in 2003 as compared to 2002 was primarily due to compensation expense of $2,667
recorded in 2002 as well as productivity improvements in 2003, In addition, loss on asset sales and disposals
decreased $697 in 2003 compared to 2002,

An increase in gross profit of $3,158 in 2002 compared to 2001 was more than offset by the $2,667
compensation expense and the $1,510 loss on sale and disposal of assets recorded in 2002.

Discontinued Operations

In the third quarter of 2003 the Company made the strategic decision to exit the Specialty Paper segment
and shut down the Detroit paper mill which, prior to its closure, produced approximately 55,000 tons of paper
annually and employed approximately 148 people. The mill’s paper machines were relatively narrow, slow and
limited in capability which made it difficult to compete in a market with overcapacity.

The results of operations for the Specialty Paper segment, including the charges discussed below, are
classified as discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for all periods
presented. In connection with the exit from Specialty Paper, the Company recorded a $22,094 ($13,367 after
tax) asset impairment charge and a $2,800 ($1,694 after tax) severance charge in the third quarter of 2003. In
the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company recorded an additional charge of $1,965 ($1,189 after tax) primarily
related to the write-down of parts and supplies inventories, the write-down of other current assets and for
employee outplacement services, and a charge of $816 ($495 after tax) for pension liability.

The exit from the Specialty Paper segment resulted in a $1,298 reduction in working capital (defined as
trade receivables plus inventories less trade payables) and a $14,422 tax benefit related to operating losses,
including the charges discussed above. In 2004 we will have additional costs related to our ongoing program to
clear the site, recover assets and dispose of the Detroit property. Although the total amount of such costs are
not currently estimable, we believe that the cash impact of the exit from Specialty Paper in 2004 will be
neutral for Packaging Dynamics. In addition, our new paper supplier relationships are working well and should
contribute to further margin improvement through waste reduction, grade consolidation and raw material cost
stability in our continuing operations.

EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA

In addition to financial results determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”), Packaging Dynamics utilizes non-GAAP financial measures. (within the meaning of Regula-
tion G promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission). For purposes of Regulation G, a non-
GAAP financial measure is'a numerical measure of a company’s historical or future financial performance,
financial position or cash flows that excludes amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of
excluding amounts, that are included in the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP in the statement of income, balance sheet or statement of cash flows (or equivalent
statements) of the Company; or includes amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of
including amounts, that are excluded from the most directly comparable measure so calculated and presented.
These measures should be considered in addition to results prepared in accordance with GAAP, but are not a
substitute for or superior to GAAP results. Non-GAAP financial measures are used because management
believes this information provides investors useful information in evaluating the results of the continuing
operations and belicves that this information provides the users of the financial statements a valuable insight
into the operating results given the restructuring of Packaging Dynamics and distribution by Ivex of its
ownership interest in Packaging Dynamics in 2002. The non-GAAP measure of adjusted EBITDA is
presented to supplement the consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The Company
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defines EBITDA as earnings from operations plus depreciation and amortization. Specifically, management
believes that adjusted EBITDA is of interest to its investors and lenders in relation to its debt covenants, as
certain of its debt covenants include this adjusted EBITDA as a performance measure. Refer to Liquidity and
Capital Resources for additional disclosure of these debt covenants.

Adjusted EBITDA is summarized in the table below. Adjusted EBITDA should not be construed as an
alternative to earnings from operations as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, as an indicator of our operating performance, as a measure of liquidity or as an alternative to cash
flow from operating activities as determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. We
have significant uses of cash flow, including capital expenditures and debt principal repayments that are not
reflected in adjusted EBITDA.

Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 is computed as follows:

2003 2002 2001
Income from continuing operations. ......................... $ 7,369 § 3447 $ 3,989
Income tax Provision ............iiiiiir i 4,736 2,521 603
Interest expense. .. ... i 5,674 5,982 9,350
Depreciation and amortization. ............. ... ... .. ... 5,542 5,570 6,169
EBITDA ... e 23,321 17,520 20,111
Non-recurring and unusual items:
Long-term incentive compensation eXpense. ................ — 2,667 —_
Asset sales and disposals .............. ... ... . L 813 1,510 —
Ameriserve bad debt provision ................ .. ... .. — — 135
Adjusted EBITDA ... ... .. $24,134  $21,697  $20,246

Disclosure About Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and
related disclosures of contingent liabilities. A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is
included in Note 2 to the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements. Certain of the Company’s
accounting policies are considered critical, as these policies are the most important to the depiction of the
Company’s financial statements and require significant, difficult or complex judgments by management, often
employing the use of estimates about the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. Estimation
methodologies are applied consistently from year to year. The following is a summary of accounting policies
management considers critical to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Management has
discussed the development and selection of these critical accounting estimates with the Audit Committee of
the Board of Directors and the Audit Committee has reviewed our disclosures relating to it in this
Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue at the time title transfers to the customer (generally upon shipment of
products). Our revenue recognition policies are in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin, or SAB,
No. 104, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements.” Shipping and handling costs are included as a
component of cost of goods sold. Credit memos are recorded as a reduction of revenue.

Inventories

The Company states inventories at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out, or FIFO,
method to determine the cost of raw materials and finished goods. This cost includes raw materials, direct
labor and manufacturing overhead. Valuing inventories at the lower of cost or market requires the use of
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estimates and judgment. Our policy is to evaluate all inventory quantities for amounts on-hand that are
potentially in excess of estimated usage requirements, and to write down any excess quantities to estimated net
realizable value. Inherent in estimates of net realizable value are manufacturing schedules, customer demand,
possible alternative uses and ultimate realization of potentially excess inventory.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable from sales to customers are unsecured, and we value accounts receivable net of
allowances for doubtful accounts. These allowances are based on estimates of the portion of the receivables
that will not be collected in the future. However, the ultimate collectibility of a receivable is significantly
dependent upon the financial condition of the individual customer, which can change rapidly and without
advance warning.

We record an allowance for doubtful accounts as an estimate of the inability of our customers to make
their required payments. We determine the amount of our allowance for doubtful accounts by looking at a
variety of factors. First we examine an aging of the accounts receivable. The aging lists past due amounts
according to invoice terms. In addition, we consider the current economic environment, the credit rating of the
customers and general overall market conditions.

If we determine that a customer is unlikely to pay, we record a charge to bad debt expense in the income
statement and an increase to the allowance for doubtful accounts. Please refer to page 56 in this Form 10-K
{Schedule IT — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts) for activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts over
the past three years. :

We believe our allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate to cover any future non-payments of our
customers, However, if economic conditions deteriorate significantly or one of our large customers was 1o
declare bankruptey, a larger allowance for doubtful accounts might be necessary. It is extremely difficult to
estimate how much of an additional reserve would be necessary, but the largest potential customer balance at
any one time would not exceed $2.0 million.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment and intangibles with finite lives, are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets may
not be recoverable. If the expected future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) is less than
the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized in accordance with SFAS 144, In addition,
the remaining amortization period for the impaired asset would be reassessed and revised if necessary.

Impairment of Goodwill

In accordance with SFAS 142, we evaluate our goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or whenever
indicators of impairment exist. SFAS 142 requires that if the carrying value of a reporting unit for which
goodwill exists exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying value of
the reporting unit goodwill exceeds the “implied fair value” of reporting unit goodwill.

As discussed in the notes to the financial statements, we have evaluated our goodwill for impairment and
have determined that the fair value of our reporting units exceeds their carrying value, so we did not recognize
an impairment of goodwill. Goodwill of approximately $43,724 is shown on our balance sheet as of
December 31, 2003.

We believe that the accounting estimate related to determining the fair value of our reporting units is a
critical accounting estimate because: (1) it is highly susceptible to change from period to period because it
requires company management to make assumptions about the future cash flows for each reporting unit over
several years in the future, and (2) the impact that recognizing an impairment would have on the assets
reported on our balance sheet as well as our results of operations could be material. Management’s
assumptions about future cash flows for the reporting units require significant judgment and actual cash flows
in the future may differ significantly from those forecasted today.

15

|



In estimating future cash flows, we use internally generated budgets reviewed by management. We
develop our budgets based upon recent sales trends, discussions with our customers, planned timing of new
product launches, forecasted capital expenditure needs, working capital needs, costing factors and many other
variables. From these internally generated budgets, a projection of cash flows is made based upon expected
sales growth rates and capital and working capital requirements based upon historical needs.

We believe our assumptions used in discounting future cash flows are appropriately conservative. Any
increase in estimated cash flows would have no impact on the reported carrying amount of goodwill. However,
if our current estimates of cash flow had been 40% lower, the fair value of the reporting unit would have been
lower than the carrying value thus requiring us to perform an impairment test to determine the “implied
value” of goodwill.

Stock-Based Compensation

We follow APB No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” (“APB No. 25”) and the related
Interpretations in accounting for our stock option plans. SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” (“SFAS No. 123") issued subsequent to APB No. 25, defines a “fair vatue based method” of
accounting for employee stock options but allows companies to continue to measure compensation cost for
employee stock options using the “intrinsic value based method” prescribed in APB No. 25.

We believe that applying the intrinsic value based method of accounting for stock options prescribed by
APB No. 25 is a critical accounting policy because application of SFAS No. 123 would require us to estimate
the fair value of employee stock options at the date of the grant and record an expense in the income statement
over the vesting period for the fair value calculated, thus reducing net income and earnings per share.

We have no immediate plans at this time to voluntarily change our accounting policy to the fair value
based method; however, we continue to evaluate this alternative. In accordance with SFAS No. 123, we have
been disclosing in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements the impact on our net income and
earnings per share had we adopted the fair value based method. If we had adopted the fair value based method
in 2003, our net loss would have been $510 higher than reported or approximately $.05 diluted loss per share
higher than reported. If we had applied the fair value based method and recorded the additional after-tax
expense of $510, it would not have affected our liquidity and capital resources because, in spite of the
additional expense, we would have been within the terms of our debt covenants.

Income Taxes

In the normal course of business, the Company is regularly audited by federal and state authorities, and is
periodically challenged regarding the amount of taxes due. These challenges include questions regarding the
timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions. Management
believes the Company’s tax positions comply with applicable tax law and intends to defend its positions. In
evaluating the exposure associated with various tax filing positions, the Company records reserves for
uncertain tax positions, and management believes these reserves are adequate. The Company’s effective tax
rate in a given financial statement period could be impacted if the Company prevailed in matters for which
reserves have been established, or was required to pay amounts in excess of established reserves.

In determining whether a valuation allowance is warranted, management evaluates factors such as prior
earnings history, expected future earnings, carry-back and carry-forward periods, and tax strategies that could
potentially enhance the likelihood of realization of a deferred tax asset. No valuation allowance is considered
necessary as of December 31, 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2003, we had cash and cash equivalents of $453, and $35,590 was available under the
revolving portion of the Senior Credit Facility, after taking into account $1,210 in letter of credits outstanding.
Our working capital at December 31, 2003 was $12,819.
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Our primary short-term and long-term operating cash requirements are for debt service, working capital
and capital expenditures. We expect to rely on cash generated from operations supplemented by revolving
borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility to fund principal short-term and long-term cash requlrements

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company refinanced its Senior Credit Facility. The new credlt
facility provides for a Term A Loan and Term B Loan totaling $70,000 and a $40,000 revolving credit facility,
1p to $5,000 of which may be in the form of letters of credit. As of December 31, 2003, the Term A Loan had
a balance of $29,000 and will mature in 2008. The required aggregate annual payments, payable in equal
quarterly installments total $4,250, $5,250 $6,250, $7,250 and $6,000 in years 2004 through 2008, respectively.
As of December 31, 2003, the Term B Loan had a balance of $39,750 and will mature in 2009. The aggregate
annual payments, payable in equal quarterly installments, total $1,000 in years 2004 through 2008 and $34,750
in 2009. The revolver had a balance of $3,200 as of December 31, 2003.

Loans under the Senior Credit Facility are designated from time to time, at our election, either (1) as
Eurodollar Rate Loans, which bear interest at a rate based on the London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR,
adjusted for regulatory reserve requirements, or (2) as Base Rate Loans, which bear interest at a rate based on
the Federal Funds rate or the prime rate. The interest rate on Eurodollar Rate Loans is equal to LIBOR plus
an applicable percentage that varies with the leverage ratio of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries.
The interest rate on Base Rate Loans is equal to a base rate equal to the greater of (1) the Federal Funds rate
plus 1/2 of 1% or (2) the prime rate, plus an applicable percentage that varies with the leverage ratio of the
Company and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Accordingly, Tranche A Term Loans and revolving loans bear interest at rates of up to 2.25% plus the
base rate, in the case of Base Rate Loans, and up to 3.25% plus LIBOR, in the case of Eurodolilar Loans.
Tranche B Term Loans bear interest at rates of 2.5% plus the base rate, in the case of Base Rate Loans, and
3.5% plus LIBOR, in the case of Eurodollar Loans.

At December 31, 2003, the interest rates on borrowings under the Tranche A Term Loan and the
Tranche B Term Loan were 3.0% plus LIBOR (1.15%) and 3.5% plus LIBOR (1.15%), respectively,
compared with 2.75% plus LIBOR (1.42%) and 3.75% plus LIBOR (1.42%), respectively, at December 31,
2002. As of December 31, 2003, we had interest rate swap agreements with a group of banks having notional
amounts totaling $50,000 and with various maturity dates. These agreements effectively fix our LIBOR rate
for $25,000 and $25,000 of our Senior Credit Facility indebtedness at rates of 3.97% and 2.91%, respectively.

Borrowings are collateralized by substantially all of the stock and assets of our operating subsidiaries. The
revolving credit facility and Term A Loan will terminate on September 29, 2008 and the Term B Loan will
terminate on September 29, 2009,

Under the Senior Credit Facility, we are required to comply on a quarterly basis with the following four
financial covenants:

» under the leverage ratio covenant, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, the ratio of total funded debt
of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries to consolidated EBITDA of the Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries for the 12-month period then ended must not exceed specified levels,
decreasing various levels from 4.5 to 1 at December 31, 2003 to 4 to 1;

« under the senior leverage ratio covenant, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, the ratio of total
funded debt (other than subordinated debt) of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries to
consolidated EBITDA. of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the 12-month period then
‘ended must not exceed specified levels, decreasmg various levels from 3.5 to 1 at December 31, 2003
to 3 tol;

» under the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, for the
12-month period then ended, the ratio of consolidated EBITDA less capital expenditures and cash tax
payments of the Company and its ‘consolidated subsidiaries to cash interest expense and scheduled
funded debt payments of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries must be equal to or greater
than certain levels increasing from 1.1 to 1 at December 31, 2003 to 1.2 to 1; and
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« under the net worth covenant, Packaging Dynamics consolidated net worth as of the last day of each
fiscal quarter must be equal to or greater than 80% of the net worth as of September 30, 2003 increased
on a cumulative basis by (1) as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, 50% of the consolidated net
income of Packaging Dynamics (to the extent positive) for the fiscal quarter then ended, commencing
with the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2003 and (2) 75% of the net cash proceeds from any equity
issuance by Packaglng Dynamics or any subsidiary of Packaging Dynamics.

For purposes of the Semor Credit Facility, consolidated EBITDA, calculated on a consohdated basis for
Packaging Dynamics and its subsidiaries, consists of (1) net income from continuing operations, excluding the
effect of any extraordinary or other non-recurring gains or losses or non-cash gains or losses (in each case,
other than in connection with the closure of the Detroit paper mill), plus (2) an amount which, in the
determination of net income, has been deducted for interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and
cash and non-cash charges and/or losses with respect to the closure of the Detroit paper mill, minus (3) cash
expenditures related to non-cash charges previously added back to net income in determining EBITDA (other
than in connection with the closure of the Detroit paper mill), plus (4) the write-off of capitalized financing
costs existing as of the closing of the Senior Credit Facility.

The Senior Credit Facility also contains various negative covenants that, among other things, require
Packaging Dynamics and its subsidiaries to limit future borrowings and payments to related parties, and
restricts Packaging Dynamics’ ability and the ability of its subsidiaries to merge or consolidate. In addition, the
Senjor Credit Facility prohibits changes in the nature of business conducted by the Company and its
subsidiaries. The failure to comply with the covenants would result in a default under the Senior Credit
Facility and permit the lenders under the Senior Credit Facility to accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness
governed by the Senior Credit Facility.

The Senior Credit Facility includes terms that limit changes in our ownership structure. Modifications to
the ownership structure outside the limits prescribed by such agreements could place us in default under these
debt instruments. The Senior Credit Facility requires PDOC to maintain specified financial ratios and levels of
tangible net worth. PDOC was in compliance with those covenants as of December 31, 2003, the latest
measurement date. The occurrence of any default of these covenants could result in acceleration of our
obligations under the Senior Credit Facility ($71,950 as of December 31, 2003) and foreclosure on the
collateral securing those obligations.

Packaging Holdings issued the 12% Promissory Note in the amount of $12,500 to Ivex on November 20,
1998 in connection with the acquisition of Ivex’s paper mill operations located in Detroit, Michigan. The note
with an accreted value of $19,238, was cancelled on July 1, 2002 in connection with the distribution to Ivex
stockholders and option holders of Ivex’s 48.19% ownership interest in Packaging Holdings.

On July 14, 1999, Packaging Holdings issued a $3,000 note to the sellers in connection with the
acquisition of International Converter, Inc. Interest on this note is 7.5% payable semi-annually commencing
on December 31, 1999. This note is unsecured and subordinated to the senior credit facility. The note, which
was scheduled to mature on July 14, 2004, was paid off in full on September 29, 2003, in conjunction with the
refinancing of our Senior Credit Facility.

We have outstanding obligations under debt agreements with the U.S. Department of Housing and
Urban Development, or HUD, in the form of promissory notes payable to the City of Baxter Springs. This
loan was refinanced in the third quarter of 2003. The remaining unpaid principal of these notes as of
December 31, 2003 was $700 and bear interest at 1.21%, as determined by HUD, and interest is payable on a
semi-annual basis. These notes are payable in annual installments of $700 through August 2004. Borrowings
are collateralized by a first lien on the land and building at our Baxter Springs, Kansas production facility and
by a second lien on specified machinery and equipment. Under specified circumstances, repayment of the
borrowings is subordinated to the repayment of obligations under the senior credit facility.

To reduce the impact of changes in interest rates on our variable rate debt, the Company has entered into
interest rate derivative instruments, which are discussed in “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk”. ’
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We made capital expenditures in continuing operations of $6,272, $2,265 and $1,422 in 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. The increase in capital expenditures during 2003 compared to 2002 resulted primarily from
expenditures made for five new bag machines totaling $2,842, increased investment in our IT infrastructure
and continuing upgrades to our manufacturing facilities. At December 31 2003, we have capital projects
ongoing at all-converting locations. - :

On October 23, 2002, the Company acquired the outstanding common stock of Wolf for the issuance of
166,667 shares of our common stock with a market value of $984 and cash of $9,275 (including the repayment
of certain indebtedness and payment of costs related to the acquisition). Wolf is a manufacturer of foil and
paper sandwich wraps located in Fort Madison, Iowa. Wolf is a significant supplier to the quick-service -
restaurant industry and generated annual revenues of approximately $23,000 during 2002. The acquisition was
funded substantially with cash flows from operations.

On December 4, 2003, the Company acquired the net assets of the Tuka Lamination Division of Ormet
Corporation. The Tuka Lamination Division consists of a single converting plant located in Iuka, Mississippi
which produces laminated foil products for the insulation, food packaging and label stock markets. The
business generated net sales of approximately $18,000 during 2003 and the purchase price was approximately’
$5,000. The acqu1s1t10n is not considered significant and thus no pro forma financial information has been
presented.

Disclosures about contractual obligations and commercial commitments are included in various parts of

" this Report, including Note 6 — Long-Term Debt and Note 11 — Commitments and Contingencies to the

consolidated financial statements. A summary of significant contractual obligations as of December 31, 2003 is
included as follows: '

- Long-Term Operating ‘ Capital
Debt . Lease Lease
. Maturities ~ Commitments  Commitments Total

2004 ... ... BT '$ 5950  $1,460 $ 90 $ 7,500
2005 ... e 6,250 987 90 7,327
2006 ... SO e 7,250 867 -~ 90 8,207
2007 o " 8,250 538 90 8,878
2008 L. 10,200 468 68 10,736
Thereafter. ....................... PR 34,750 3,909 — 38,659
Total ...................... e $72,650 . $8,229 $428 $81,307

The Company does not have long term supply agreements or capltal commitments in addition to those
discussed above.

The 12% Promissory Note was payable to Ivex, which held an ownership interest in Packaging Holdings
prior to the distribution to Ivex stockholders and option holders of Ivex’s 48.19% ownership interest in
Packaging Holdings. The 12% Promissory Note was canceled in connection with the distribution. Pursuant to
a consulting agreement, we paid Ivex a fixed annual consulting fee for services rendered to us by Ivex. During
2003, 2002 and 2001, we recorded consulting fee expense of zero, $250 and $500 related to this agreement
The consulting agreement was terminated in connection with the distribution.

In October 2003, the company announced the payment of a cash dividend of $0.05 per common share.
The dividend was paid on January 6, 2004 to shareholders of record as of December 15, 2003. The total
dividend pald was $484.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued Interpretation
No. (“FIN™) 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” The objective of FIN 46R is to improve
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financial reporting by companies involved with variable interest entities. Prior to FIN 46R, companies have
generally included another entity in its consolidated financial statements only if it controlled the entity through
voting interest. FIN 46R changes that by requiring a variable interest entity to be consolidated by a company if
‘that company is subject to a majority of the risk or loss from the variable interest entity’s activities or entitled
to receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns or both. Consolidation by a primary beneficiary of the
assets, liability and results of activities of variable interest entities will provide more complete information
about the resources, obligations, risks and opportunities of the consolidated company. The provisions of
FIN 46R are effective immediately for those variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003. In
October 2003, the FASB delayed the implementation of FIN 46R until the first quarter beginning after
December 15, 2003 for all entities acquired before February 1, 2003. We do not have any investments in
variable interest entities.

 In December 2003, the Office of the Chief Accountant and Division of Corporation Finance of the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission released Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104, “Revenue
Recognition.” This SAB updates portions of the interpretive guidance included in Topic 13 of the codification
of SABs in order to make this interpretive guidance consistent with current authoritative accounting guidance.
The principal revisions relate to the rescission of material no longer necessary because of private sector
developments in U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. SAB 104 is effective immediately. As there
are no new revenue recognition concepts or interpretations included in this SAB and our results of operations
incorporate previous SAB guidance and U.S. generally accepted accounting principles on this topic, there is no
impact on our financial statements as a result of SAB 104.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies
and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. We currently do
not have any of those instruments.

During 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board finalized SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” for exit and disposal activities that are initiated after
December 31, 2002. This Statement requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal
activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. The Company applied the provisions of SFAS 146 to exit
or disposal activities in 2003.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FAS Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of
FAS 13 and Technical Corrections as of April 2002,” which mainly addresses the accounting and disclosure
related to early extinguishment of debt transactions as well as several other technical corrections.
SFAS No. 145 is effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002 with early
application encouraged. We adopted SFAS No. 145 effective January [, 2003. Adoption did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial position or cash flows.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” which
addresses the accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived
assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS No. 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for an
asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair
value can be made. SFAS No. 143 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
June 15, 2002. We adopted SFAS No. 143 effective January 1, 2003. Adoption did not have a material effect
on our consolidated financial position or cash flows.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We use interest rate swaps and collars to modify our exposure to interest rate movements and to reduce
borrowing costs. We have designated these instruments as cash flow hedges and consider these instruments
effective at offsetting our risk to variable interest rates on debt. Our exposure to interest rate risk consists of
floating rate debt instruments that are benchmarked to LIBOR. As of December 31, 2003, we had interest
rate swap agreements with a group of banks having notional amounts totaling $50,000 with various maturity
dates through December 10, 2006. Beginning on December 10, 2003, we have a no cost collar agreement with
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a notional amount of $25,000 maturing on December 10, 2004. This collar agreement effectively fixes the
LIBOR base rate for $25,000 of our Senior Credit Facility indebtedness at a maximum of 3.97% and allow for
us to pay the market LIBOR from a floor of 2.34% to the maximum rate. Effective December 31, 2003, the
Company has an interest rate swap agreement effectively fixing our LIBOR rate for $25,000 of our Senior
Credit Facility indebtedness at a rate of 2.91%. If LIBOR falls below 2.34%, we are required to pay the floor
rate of 2.34%. A 10% unfavorable movement in LIBOR would not expose us to material losses of earnings or
cash flows.

Income or*expense related to settlements under these agreements is recorded as adjustments to interest
expense in our financial statements. The fair market value of our derivative instruments outlined above
approximates a loss of $394 as of December 31, 2003 and is based upon the amount at which it could be
settled with a third party, although we have no current intention to trade any of these instruments and plan to
hold them as hedges for the Senior Credit Facility. The fair market value of our derivative instruments, net of
income tax, was recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).

Substantially all of our sales, including export sales, are denominated in United States Dollars in order to
reduce our exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements included in this annual report, including without limitation, “Management’s Discus-
sion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Results of Operations — For the
Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 — Liquidity and Capital Resources, — Recently
Issued Accounting Pronouncements, and — Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk”
constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 (the “Reform Act”). Such forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertain-
ties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be
materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such
forward-looking statements. Among the factors that could cause results to differ materially from current
expectations are: (1) changes in consumer demand and prices resulting in a negative impact on revenues and
margins; (ii) raw material substitutions and increases in the costs of raw materials, utilities, labor and other
supplies; (iii) increased competition in the Company’s product lines; (iv) changes in capital availability or
costs; (v) workforce factors such as strikes or labor interruptions; (vi) the ability of the Company and it
subsidiaries to develop new products, identify and execute capital programs and efficiently integrate acquired
businesses; (vii) the cost of compliance with applicable governmental regulations and changes in such
regulations, including environmental regulations; (viii) the general political, economic and competitive
conditions in markets and countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate, including currency
fluctuations and other risks associated with operating in foreign countries; and (ix) the timing and occurrence
(or non-occurrence) of transactions and events which may be subject to circumstances beyond the control of
Packaging Dynamics and its subsidiaries.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
(a) (1) The following financial statements of Packaging Dynamics are included on pages 23 to 46.
» Report of Independent Auditors
+ Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2003 and 2002

» Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

"+ Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity/Members’ Equity and Other Compre-
hensive Income (Loss) for the Years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

» Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

» Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedules for the Year ended December 31, 2003 are included on pages 52
to 56.

» Schedule I — Condensed Financial Information
» Schedule 1T — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves

All other schedules of Packaging Dynamics for which provision is made in the applicable accounting
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are not required, are inapplicable or have been
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements and therefore have been omitted.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Packaging Dynamics Corporation

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Packaging Dynamics Corporation and its subsidiaries (the
“Company”) at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedules listed
in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read
in conjunction with the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial
statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedules based on our audits. We conducted
our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” effective
January 1, 2002,

FrrcassidisSowseLos pus L

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 12, 2004
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PACKAGING DYNAMICS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)

December 31,

December 31,

2003 2002
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ........ ... ... i i $ 453 $ 1,864
Accounts receivable trade (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $375 and
8609, respectiVEly) ...\t e 24,751 22,640
3N 1103 5 (=Y AU 21,740 28,257
Prepaid expenses and other current assets................vviiiiiiininnnnn... 2,567 3,995
Total CUITENt @88ETS . .\ttt ettt e e 49511 56,756
Property, Plant and Equipment:
Buildings and improvements . . ...t 19,356 24,071
Machinery and equipment. ... e 46,699 64,440
Projects il PrOZIESS . ..\ttt et ettt e e 271 1,290
66,326 89,801
Less — accumulated depreciation. . ........... ... .. i (23,582) (26,476)
42,744 63,325
Land . e 861 1,276
Total property, plant and equipment ..o, 43,605 64,601
Other Assets:
Goodwill ... e - 43,724 42,717
Intangibles and other assets, net of accumulated amortization.................. 1,819 2,227
Total Other aSSetS . oottt ettt 45,543 44,998
Total ASSEES .« .ottt $138,659 $166,355
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY/MEMBERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt............ ... ... i i $ 5,950 $ 7420
Cash overdraft .. ... 7,311 9,869
Accounts payable ... ... .. e 13,074 13,430
Accrued salary and Wages . .. ...ttt e 4,081 2,627
Other accrued labilities. . ... o e e 6,276 6,433
Total current liabilities. .............. . e 36,692 39,779
Long-Term Debt ... ... e e 66,700 67,710
Other Liabilities . .. ... ..o e e e 2,692 2,736
Deferred Income Taxes .. .. oottt ittt et e 1,185 10,423
Total Liabilities .......couuiinit e e e 107,269 120,648
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11) ............ ... .o it inni... — —
Stockholders’ Equity/Members’ Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value — 5,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued or
OUtStANdIng ... . e — —
Common stock, $.01 par value — 40,000,000 shares authorized; 9,681,504 and
9,618,767 shares issued and outstanding, respectively ....................... 97 96
Paid in capital in excess of parvalue................ ... ... .. .. ..o, 46,003 45,560
Other comprehensive income (10SS) .......o.uut e, 190 (253)
Retained earnings {(accumulated deficit) ............... ... ... oo (14,500) 304
Total stockholders’ equity/members’ equity ............. ... 31,390 45,707
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity/Members’ Equity............... $138,659 $166,355

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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PACKAGING DYNAMICS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31,

603 f

Diluted ... 9,808,164

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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2003 2002 2001

Nt SAIES - o v v ettt e e e $ 243,444 $237.430  $212,900
Costof goods sold . ... ..o i e 209,472 207,336 185,964
Gross Profit . ..ttt e e 33,972 30,094 26,936
Operating expenses: _

Selling, general and administrative ............... ... ...... 14,736 16,128 11,532

Depreciation and amortization ............. ... ..o i, 644 506 1,327

Asset sales and disposals . ... ... .. ... e 813 1,510 —

Ameriserve bad debt provision .. .......... .. ... .. — — 135
Total operating eXpenses .. .......vvvuirein e 16,193 18,144 12,994
Income from OPETAtIONS . o vttt ettt e iie e i 17,779 11,950 13,942
Interest €Xpense ... ... ce i e e 5,674 5,982 9,350
Income before inCome taxes . ..o vt ettt i e 12,105 o 5968 4,592

- Income tax provision .............. ..., e 4,736 2,521

Income from continuing operations ........... R 7,369 3,447 3,989
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax benefit .............. {22,089) (2,516) (1,645)
Net Income (l0SS) .+ v v vvvrtur e e e e i e iiieee e $ (14720) § 931 § 2344
Basic earnings (loss) per share of common stock:

Continuing operations ...............ovvrreriiuenrnnrnnenan, $ 0.76

Discontinued operations .............c.cuiiiiiiinrareiiin... (2.28)

Netloss.......oooiiiiiii, S $§  (1.52)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share of common stock:

Continuing Operations . ... ........uuuuvrrrirmernrnnnnnnnnens $ 0.75

Discontinued operations ................ccoiiiiiiiiiiaaaaa.. (2.25)

Nt 0SS . ottt e $ (1.50)
Weighted average shares outstanding:

BasiC ..o 9,667,301
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PACKAGING DYNAMICS CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities: _ .
Net InCome (10SS) v i vt vt e it e e i $(14,720) $ 931 § 2344
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash-from operating :
“activities: - - : e N _
Write-off of long- hved assets and other assets. ... ... .oveiii. . 23,902 ‘ — —
Depreciation and amortization. . ........ ... .o viieiiiine.. 7,063 7,663 8,304
- Amortization and write-off of deferred financing costs........... - 1,932 739 993
Loss on disposal of equipment. . ........covvriieiniin .. 813 - 1,510 23
Provision for doubtful accounts ............ ... .. . ... ... (74) 214 (227)
Deferred income taxes ...ttt e (9,707) (1,266) 204 .
Non-cash charge for long-term incentive compensation.......... — 2,542 —
Non-cash interest to related party. . .......................... — 868 1,688
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (excluding acquisition .
of business) from continuing operations: '
“Accounts receivable ... ... e (1,072) (2,493) 952
Inventories .. ......... e T 5,635 1,263 8,518
Other assets . ..ottt 11 (470) 53
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .................0.. 1,167 4,922 (127)
Net cash from continuing operating activities . ............. 15,050 16,423 22,725
Net cash from (used by) discontinued operating activities . . . 2,532 4,356 (5,232)
Net cash from operating activities .................... ... 17,582 20,779 . 17,493
Cash flows from (used by) investing activities:
Proceeds from sale of assets . ......... .. ..., 4 403 51
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired................ ... ... .. (5,198) (9,275) —
Additions to property, plant and equipment.................. S (6,272) (2,265) (1,422)
Net cash used by continuing investing activities............ (11,466)  (11,137) (1,371)
Net cash used by discontinued investing activities .......... (855) (2,772) (3,713)
Net cash used by investing activities ............. e C (12,321)  (13,909) (5,084)
Cash flows from (used by) financing activities: : )
Principal payments for loan obligations ....................... .. (75,680) (6,420)  (55,000) -
Proceeds from loan obligations ............ ... ... .. 70,000 — —
Proceeds under revolving line of credit. . ........................ . 59,400 30,400 53,800
. Repayments under revolving line of credit....................... (56,200)  (32,100) (6,420)
" Payment of financing costs.............. ... ... .. e (1,879) —. (357)
OhET, DOL. .« .ottt e e e e e e e e (2,313) 2,073 (3,851)
Net cash used by financing activities ..................... (6,672) (6,047) (11,828)
Net increase (decrease) in cash-and cash equivalents ....... e (1,411) 823 581
. Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year .................... 1,864 1,041 460
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ............... e $ 453 §- 1,84 $§ 1,041
Supplemental cash flow disclosures: '
Cash paid during the year for:
61173 ) $ 4414 § 5722 § 8395
Income taxes . ... . . e 400 1,231 75
Non-cash transaction: .
Common stock issued for the acqulsltlon of Wolf Packagmg Inc. ... — - 984 —
- Declaration of dividend ............... ... ... e . 484 S — —

- The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement.
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PACKAGING DYNAMICS CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in thousands)

Note 1 — Organization and Basis of Presentation

Packaging Dynamics Corporation the (“Company” or “Packaging Dynamics”) is a Delaware corporation
established as a holding company to own all of the interest in Packaging Dynamics Operating Company
(“PDOC”). PDOC is a Delaware corporation which is the parent company of all our current operating
subsidiaries.

On March 18, 2002, the board of directors of Ivex Packaging Corporation (“Ivex”) approved a merger
agreement providing for the merger with Ivex of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Alcoa Inc. (“Alcoa™). As a
result of the merger, Ivex became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Alcoa on July 1, 2002. The merger was
conditioned upon, among other things, the prior distribution to Ivex stockholders and option holders of 1vex’s
48.19% ownership interest in Packaging Holdings, L.L.C (*Packaging Holdings” or “PHLLC”). To facilitate
the distribution, Ivex formed Packaging Dynamics, a C-corporation for income tax purposes, to be the holding
company for all of the ownership interests in Packaging Holdings. In preparation for the distribution, Ivex and
the other members of Packaging Holdings exchanged their ownership interests in Packaging Holdings for
common stock of Packaging Dynamics. On July 1, 2002, Ivex distributed its shares of Packaging Dynamics to
its stockholders and certain of its option holders immediately prior to the merger. The consolidated financial
statements of Packaging Dynamics presented herein include the results of consolidated operations, financial
position and cash flows of Packaging Holdings.

Also in connection with the merger and distribution, a new holding company structure was created by
contributing all of the limited liability company interests of Packaging Holdings to Packaging Dynamics, a
C-corporation for income tax purposes, in exchange for the common stock of Packaging Dynamics; the
$12,500 12% subordinated note payable to Ivex, plus accreted interest, totaling approximately $19,238 was
canceled; and a consulting agreement with Ivex was canceled. The impact of the distribution is reflected on
the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) as Formation
of Packaging Dynamics Corporation. The impact on Stockholders’ Equity/ Members’ Equity of the distribu-
tion includes (i) an increase of $19,238 resulting from the cancellation of the $12,500 12% subordinated note
payable to Ivex; (ii) a decrease of $9,200 resulting from additional deferred tax liabilities due to Packaging
Dynamics’ C-corporation status; (iii) an increase of $423 resulting from the repayment of certain advances
and obligations of members of Packaging Holdings; and (iv) a decrease of $366 resulting from expenses
associated with the transaction.

On July 1, 2002, the Company issued 9,437,750 shares of common stock in connection with the merger
and distribution. Prior to July 1, 2002, the Company ownership consisted of membership units. Accordingly,
no earnings per share information has been presented for any period prior to July 1, 2002.

In September 2003, in conjunction with the refinancing of the Senior Credit Facility, Packaging Holdings
merged with Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company which was the parent
company of all the operating subsidiaries and of which Packaging Holdings was a sole member, and converted
the surviving limited liability company into a Delaware corporation which was named Packaging Dynamics
Operating Company.

The Company is a flexible packaging converter, supplying products to the foodservice, consumer
products, bakery, supermarket and certain industrial markets. The Company operated within and sold to
customers throughout the U.S., Canada and Europe in two industry segments — converting operations and
specialty paper. The converting operations segment is a converter of paper, film and foil for use in a variety of
food packaging and industrial businesses. The specialty paper segment manufactured numerous grades of
lightweight paper. The specialty paper segment was discontinued in October 2003.
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PACKAGING DYNAMICS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Packaging Dynamics Corporation and it§
wholly-ewned subsidiaries. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers any highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity date of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.
Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue at the time title transfers to the customer (generally upon shipment of
products). Shipping and handling costs are included as a component of cost of goods sold.
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market as determined by the- first-in, first~out
(FIFO) method. Such cost includes raw materials, direct labor and manufacturing overhead. Inventories at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 consist of the following:

December 31, December 31,

2003 2002
Raw materials .. ..ot e e $ 9,892 $13,075
WOTKIT-PIOCESS .« . v v ittt et et et et e e ettt iae e 1,488 1,089
Finished goods ...... U 10,672 14,334
$22,052 $28,498
Reserve ... e (312) (241)
=1 v $21,740 $28,257

Property, Plant and Equipment

The Company capitalizes expenditures for major renewals and betterments at cost and charges to
operating expenses the cost of current maintenance and repairs. Provisions for depreciation have been
computed principally on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives (generally 31 years for
buildings, 15 to 31 years for improvements and 7 to 25 years for machinery and equipment). During 2002, the
Company changed the estimate of useful lives for certain of its paper machinery and equipment to have a
maximum useful life of 25 years resulting in a net reduction of annual depreciation expense of $200. Assets
recorded under capital leases are amortized over the shorter of the life of the lease or useful life.

The cost and accumulated depreciation relating to assets retired or otherwise disposed of are eliminated
from the respective accounts at the time of disposition. The resulting gain or loss is included in the current
operating results.

Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment and finite-lived intangibles, are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of assets may not
be recoverable. If the expected future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) are less than the
carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recognized. Finite-lived intangibles, consisting of deferred

29

:«



PACKAGING DYNAMICS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

financing costs, non-compete agreements and customer contracts, are capitalized and amortized over their
useful lives which range from one to nine years.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”™)
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” This statement eliminates the requirement for goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives to be amortized to expense over time but requires instead that such assets
be tested for impairment at least annually, or as circumstances dictate.

Impairment of goodwill is measured according to a two-step approach. In the first step, the fair value of a
reporting unit is compared to the carrying amount of the reporting unit, including goodwill. If the carrying
amount exceeds the fair value, the second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the
amount of impairment loss, if any. In the second step, the implied fair value of the goodwill is estimated as the
fair value of the reporting unit less the fair values of all the other tangible and intangible net assets of the
reporting unit. If the carrying amount of the goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an
impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess, not to exceed the carrying amount of the
goodwill. The Company completed the required impairment tests during 2003 and 2002 which indicated no
impairment charge was required.

Stock Based Compensation

At December 31, 2003, the Company has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described more fully
in Note 10, “Employee Benefit Plans.” The Company accounts for this plan under the recognition and
measurement provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 25 “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations. Stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in
earnings to the extent that option grants under those plans had an exercise price below the market value of the
underlying common stock on the date of grant. SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,”
(“SFAS No. 1237) issued subsequent to APB No. 25 and amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure,” (“SFAS No. 148”) defines a fair value based
method of accounting for employees stock options but allows companies to continue to measure compensation
cost for employee stock options using the intrinsic value based method described in APB No. 25.
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The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 as amended by SFAS No. 148, to stock-based
employee compensation.

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2003 2002

Net income (1085) ..ottt e e $(14,720) $ 931
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense previously

recorded, net of tax ....... ... .. ... — 1,613
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation expense determined

under fair value based method, net of related tax effects ......... (510) (2,170)
Pro forma net income (10Ss) ... .. it $(15,230) $ 374
Loss Per Share:

Basic—asreported ........ . .. $ (1.52)

Basic — Pro forma ......... e $ (1.57)
" Dilutéd — as reported .. ... e L. $ (150

Diluted — Proforma ....... ... ... ... .. . § (159

The determination of compensation expense for the pro forma information was based upon the estimated
fair value of the options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions:

2003 2002
Expected option life (years) . ... 5 5
Risk-free weighted average interest rate ......... ... iurvinnriennnnn.nn. 3.09% 4.82%
Stock price volatility . ... ... . 27.5% 35%
Dividend yield . ..... ... .. e 1.9% 0.0%

The weighted average fair values of options granted during 2003 and 2002 were $2.83 and $4.25 per share,
respectively.

These costs may not be representative of the total effects on pro forma reported net income (loss) for
future years. Factors that may impact disclosures in future years include the attribution of the awards to the
service period, the vesting of stock options, timing of additional grants of stock option awards and number of
shares granted for future awards.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share exciudes dilution and is computed by dividing net income by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the
potential dilution that could occur if common stock options are exercised and is computed by dividing net
income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, including common stock equivalent
shares, issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options, to the extent that they would have a dilutive effect
on the per share amounts. Dilution of the Company’s weighted average shares outstanding results from
common stock issuable upon exercise of outstanding stock options (140,863 for the year ended December 31,
2003). The Company recorded a basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations of $0.76 and
$0.75, respectively, for the year ending December 31, 2003. Prior to July 1, 2002, the Company ownership
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consisted of membership units. Accordingly, no earnings per share information has been presented for any
period prior to July 1, 2002.

In accordance with SFAS 128, “Earnings per Share,” the denominator used in the diluted earnings per
share calculation is based on the control number concept, which requires that the same number of potentially
dilutive securities applied in computing diluted earnings per share from continuing operations be applied to all
other categories of income or loss, regardless of their anti-dilutive effect on such categories.

The following table details the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for continuing
operations:

2003

Income from continuing Operations ............ ..o iriniirneeereiinnn.n. $ 7,369
Weighted average shares used to determine basic earnings per share from continuing

0] o3 - L) 11 9,667,301
Common stock equivalents ... ...t e 140,863
Weighted average shares used to determine diluted earnings per share from

CONtINUING OPETALIONS . . 4 . vttt et ettt ettt e et ie it e ee e 9,808,164
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations ..................c.c.ovve.... $ 0.76
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations .......................... $ 0.75

Derivatives and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The Company recognizes all derivative instruments which are cash flow hedges as assets or liabilities at
fair value, with the related gain or loss reflected within stockholders’ equity/members’ equity through
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) or within operations depending upon the nature of the
derivative instrument. The Company maintains interest rate swap agreements that are designated as cash flow
hedges to manage the market risk from changes in interest rates on a portion of its variable rate term loans.
Such derivative financial instruments are recorded at fair value, and at December 31, 2003 and 2002, the fair
value approximates a loss of $394 and $1,126, respectively, which is included in accrued liabilities within the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet. Changes in fair value, based upon the amount at which the swap
could be settled with a third party, are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) only to the extent of
effectiveness. Any ineffectiveness on the swap would be recognized in the consolidated statement of
operations. The differentials to be received or paid under the interest rate swap agreements are recognized in
income over the life of the contract as adjustments to interest expense.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Interpretation
No. (“FIN”) 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” The objective of FIN 46R is to improve
financial reporting by companies involved with variable interest entities. Prior to FIN 46R, companies have
generally included another entity in its consolidated financial staternents only if it controlled the entity through
voting interest. FIN 46R changes that by requiring a variable interest entity to be consolidated by a company if
that company is subject to a majority of the risk or loss from the variable interest entity’s activities or entitled
to receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns or both. Consolidation by a primary beneficiary of the
assets, liability and results of activities of variable interest entities will provide more complete information
about the resources, obligations, risks and opportunities of the consolidated company. We do not have any
investments in variable interest entities. The provisions of FIN 46R are effective immediately for those
variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003. In October 2003, the FASB delayed the implementa-
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tion of FIN 46R until the first quarter beginning after December 15, 2003 for all entities acquired before
February 1, 2003.

In December 2003, the Office of the Chief Accountant and Division of Corporation Finance of the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission released Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104, “Revenue
Recognition.” This SAB updates portions of the interpretive guidance included in Topic 13 of the codification
of SABs in order to make this interpretive guidance consistent with current authoritative accounting guidance.
The principal revisions relate to the rescission of material no longer necessary because of private sector
developments in U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. SAB 104 is effective immediately. As there
are no new revenue recognition concepts or interpretations included in this SAB and our results of operations
incorporate previous SAB guidance and U.S. generally accepted accounting principles on this topic, there is no
impact on our financial statements as a result of SAB 104.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies
and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. We currently do
not have any of those instruments.

During 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board finalized SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” for exit and disposal activities that are initiated after
December 31, 2002. This Statement requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal
activity be recognized when the liability is incurred. The Company applied the provisions of SFAS 146 to exit
or disposal activities in 2003.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FAS Nos. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of
FAS 13 and Technical Corrections as of April 2002,” which mainly addresses the accounting and disclosure
related to early extinguishment of debt transactions as well as several other technical corrections.
SFAS No. 145 is effective for financial statements for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002 with early
application encouraged. We adopted SFAS No. 145 effective January 1, 2003. Adoption did not have a
material effect on our consolidated financial position or cash flows.

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” which
addresses the accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived
assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS No. 143 requires that the fair value of a liability for an
asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair
value can be made. SFAS No. 143 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
June 15, 2002. We adopted SFAS No. 143 effective January 1, 2003. Adoption did not have a material effect
on our consolidated financial position or cash flows.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and does not generally require
collateral. The Company maintains allowances for potential credit losses based upon expected collectibility of
all accounts receivable.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable and variable rate debt approximates their estimated fair value based either on the short-term
maturity of these instruments or on market prices for the same or similar type of financial instruments. The
fair market value of the Company’s interest rate swaps were a loss of $394 and $1,126 at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively. .
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Income Taxes

The Company provides for income taxes under the provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes.” SFAS No. 109 requires the asset and liability approach in accounting for income taxes. Deferred
income tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the differences between the financial statement and tax
basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates. Valuation allowances are provided against deferred tax
assets, which are not likely to be realized.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Note 3 — Discontinued Operations

On September 4, 2003, the Company announced its intention to exit its Specialty Paper operation
comprised of the paper mill, located in Detroit, Michigan, which produced approximately 55,000 tons of paper
annually and employed approximately 148 people. During the fourth quarter of 2003, the operations at the mill
were shut down and the Specialty Paper operation was exited. In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” which establishes accounting and reporting standards for
the impairment and disposal of long-lived assets and discontinued operations, the Specialty Paper operation is
classified as a discontinued operation.

In the third quarter of 2003, the Company recorded a $22,094 ($13,367 after tax) asset impairment
charge and a $2,800 ($1,694 after tax) severance charge based on SFAS No. 112, “Employers’ Accounting
for Postemployment Benefits.” In the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company recorded an additional charge of
$1,965 ($1,189 after tax) primarily related to the write-down of parts and supplies inventories, the write-down
of other current assets and for employee outplacement services, and a $816 ($495 after tax) charge for pension
liability.

The financial information presented for all prior periods has been reclassified to reflect the Specialty
Paper operation as a discontinued operation in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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The following table details selected income statement information for the Specialty Paper operation.
Year Ended December 31,

2003 . ] 2002 .. 2001

Sales

External ..........cooiiriiiiiii.. e P . 817479 $20,671 © $22,999

Intercompany.......... oo 24,883 34,111 30,341

Discounts & Returns ..................... R (589) (551) ..(1,078)

Net Sales . . . . T R R $ 41,773 $54,231  $52,262
(Loss) income from operanons O S oo $(35,206) $(2,544) 8 332

Interest expense. ... PR I 1,305 1,614 1,9771

Loss before income taxes............. B (36,511)  (4,158) (1,645)
Income tax benefit .. ... ... . . .. e 14,422 1,642 -
Net oSS .ot $(22,089) $(2,516) $(1,645)

The assets and liabilities associated with the Specialty Paper operation are included in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. The following table details selected balance sheet 1nformat10n for the Spec1alty Paper
operatlon .

" December 31,

2003 2002
Accounts receivéble trade (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $33 - . ‘
and $193, respectively) ........... . $ 346 $2064‘

Inventories ..................... R O — 3, 319,
Other CUITENt A8S8TS . . o i\ vttt ittt e et e e e 1,092 - 2,411
Net property, plant & equipment . .................. ... e _— . 22,760
"“Total assets of discontinued OPETAtIONS v vv ettt et e 1,438 30,554
Accounts payable .. .............. ... e, . L 8274566
Accrued liabilities ................. ... ... ..., J S .. 3,363 1,651

- Total liabilities of discontinued operations ................... .. e 4,190 6,217

- Net (liabilities) assets of dlscontlnucd operations . ............ -' IR . 82, 752) $24 337 i

A summary of the changes in the reserves related to the Companys exit from the Specialty Paper ’
operation is as follows: v

Severance ©  Pension '
Pay Charge Total

Balance at December 31,2002 ... ... ... ... il 8 - $—- 5 —
Charges 10 EXPENSE . .« .\ vv vt i e 2,800 816 3,616
Cash Payments ... .......o.uuuiinnn i o (1,849) — . (1,849)

Reversals ... ..o i — — —
Balance at December 31,2003 ............... ... ... ..., $ 951 $816 $ 1,767 .
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Note 4 — Acquisition

On December 4, 2003, the Company acquired the net assets of the Iuka Lamination Division (“Iuka”) of
Ormet Corporation for $5,000 in cash. Iuka, located in Iuka, Mississippi, is a converter of laminated foil
products for the insulation, food packaging and label stock markets. Iuka generated annual revenues of
approximately $18,000 during 2003. The acquisition of Iuka is expected to enhance the Company’s position in
the specialty lamination market, enhance the Company’s lamination product development capabilities and
provide opportunities to lower the Company’s overall cost position in laminations. The acquisition is not
considered significant and thus no pro forma financial information has been presented.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition.

As of
December 4,
2003
CUITENE BSSEE . . . . ettt ettt et e et et et et e e et e e e $ 5119
Property, plant and equipment ........... . ... e 1,500
Intangible assets . ... ..o e —
GOoOAWIlL . Lo o e 755
Total assets acquired .. ... ...ttt e e e e 7,374
Current Habilities ... ... it (2,374)
Total liabilities assumed. .. .. ... ... e e (2,374)
Net operating assets acqUIred . ... .....ovtuiittinner et it 5,000
Debt assumed ....... ... i e —
Net assets acquired. .. ..., e $ 5,000

The purchase price allocation summarized above excludes the impact of a potential adjustment to the
purchase price pursuant to the working capital purchase price adjustment mechanism contained in the
agreement of sale. The adjustment mechanism process is ongoing and is expected to be resolved during 2004.
However, any such adjustment to the purchase price under the working capital adjustment mechanism is not
expected to have an adverse effect on the financial statements of the Company.

On October 23, 2002, the Company acquired the net assets of the outstanding common stock of Wolf
Packaging, Inc. (“Wolf”’) for the issuance of 166,667 shares of the Company’s common stock with a fair
market value on the date of acquisition of $984 and cash of $9,275 (including the repayment of certain
indebtedness and payment of costs related to the acquisition). Wolf is a manufacturer of foil and paper
sandwich wraps located in Fort Madison, Iowa. Wolf is a significant supplier to the quick-service restaurant
industry and generated annual revenues of approximately $23,000 during 2002,
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at
the date of acquisition of Wolf.

As of
October 23,
2002
CUITENE ASSEES . o v\ttt i ettt ettt et e e e e e e coee. $ 23857
Property, plant and equipment . ................... e 1,755
Intangible @ssets . ... ..o 480
GoodWill .. 8,442
Total assets acquired . . ... ... 13,534
Current Habilities . . ... .. e (2,523)
Other labilities. . ... ... . e (250)
Deferred taxes .. .. it e (400)
Total Habilities assumed . ... ... . (3,173)
Net operating assefs acquired .. ... ... it e 10,361
Debt assUmMeEd . .. oo e . 2,734)
Net assets acquired . ... ..t $ 7,627

The intangible assets are comprised of customer contracts of $380 (1.4 year weighted average life) and
non-compete agreements of $100 (9.5 year weighted average life). Goodwill was not deductible for income tax
purposes.

The Company’s financial statements include the results of operations and cash flows of Wolf from the
purchase date. Adjusting for the full year effect of the acquisition, unaudited pro forma net sales would have
been higher by approximately $19,000 and $16,000, respectively, compared to the reported net sales in 2002
and 2001. Unaudited pro forma net income would not have been significantly different compared to the
Company’s reported net income in 2002 and 2001, as incremental income from operations was offset by pro
forma interest expense related to the acquisition. The unaudited pro forma results of operations were prepared
as if the acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of 2001, after giving effect for certain adjustments. The
unaudited results were prepared for comparative purposes only and do not purport to be indicative of what
would have occurred had the acquisitions been made as of the beginning of the year or of results which may
occur in the future.

Note 5 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company’s intangible asset balance at December 31, 2003 consists of $43,724 of goodwill subject to
annual impairment tests under SFAS No. 142 and $1,819 in other intangible assets which are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated life of the asset. Amortization expense related to such intangible assets
was $2,286, $857 and $1,963 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
Amortization expense for the years 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 is estimated to be $450, $350, $350, $350
and $270, respectively.
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A roll-forward of goodwill for 2003, 2002 and 2001 is as follows:

December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Balance at beginning of year . .......... ... .. .. ... $42,771  $34,329  $35,259
Additions ..ot 953 8,442 —
AMOrtization . ... vttt i i e s — (930)
Balance atend of year ... ... . . i il i $43.724  $42,7771  $34,329

Intangible assets at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consist of the following;

December 31,

December 31,

2003 2002
Covenants not to compete and customer contracts. ................ $ 696 $ 5,696
Deferred financing CostS. . ... ..o ei i 1,717 4,624
2,413 10,320
Accumulated amortization. .. ... ... .. . o (594) {8,093)
$1,819 $ 2,227

Note 6 — Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consists of the following:

December 31, December 31,

2003 2002

Senior Credit Facility:

Tranche A Term Loan. . ... ..t $29,000 $13,375

Tranche B Term Loan............... s e 39,750 57,355

Revolving credit loan .. ......... e 3,200 —
Sellernote payable . ........ ... .. . — 3,000
Baxter Springs facility HUD loan.............. ... . ... ... .... 700 1,400

Subtotal . ... 72,650 75,130
Current maturities of long termdebt . ........................ ... (5,950) (7,420)
Long-term debt. ... ... ... . . . . $66,700 $67,710

Senior Credit Facility

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company and its subsidiaries entered into a credit agreement (the
“Senior Credit Facility”) with PDOC, as borrower, and Bank of America, N.A., as agent, that provided two
term loans and a revolving credit loan totaling $110,000, including a $40,000 revolving credit facility.

The term loans require quarterly principal payments beginning December 31, 2003 and ending
September 29, 2008 for Term Loan A and September 29, 2009 for Term Loan B and ranging from $250 to
$2,000, with any outstanding principal due at maturity. The revolving credit facility matures on September 29,
2008.

Loans under the Senior Credit Facility are designated from time to time, at our election, either (1) as
Eurodollar Rate Loans, which bear interest at a rate based on the London Interbank Offered Rate,
(“LIBOR"), adjusted for regulatory reserve requirements, or (2) as Base Rate Loans, which bear interest at a
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rate based on the Federal Funds rate or the prime rate. The interest rate on Eurodollar Rate Loans is equal to
LIBOR plus an applicable percentage that varies with the leverage ratio of the Company and its consolidated
subsidiaries. The interest rate on Base Rate Loans is equal to a base rate equal to the greater of (1) the
Federal Funds rate plus Yz of 1% or (2) the prime rate; plus an applicable percentage that varies with the
leverage ratio of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Accordingly, Tranche A Term Loans and revolving loans bear interest at rates of up to 2.25% plus the
base rate, in the case of Base Rate Loans, and up to 3.25% plus LIBOR, in the case of Eurodollar Loans.
Tranche B Term Loans bear interest at rates of 2.5% plus the base rate, in the case of Base Rate Loans, and
3.5% plus LIBOR, in the case of Eurodollar Loans.

At December 31, 2003, the interest rates on borrowings under the Tranche A Term Loan and the
Tranche B Term Loan were 3.0% plus LIBOR (1.15%) and 3.5% plus LIBOR (1.15%), respectively,
compared with 2.75% plus LIBOR (1.42%) and 3.75% plus LIBOR (1.42%), respectively, at December 31,
2002. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had interest rate swap agreements with a group of banks having
notional amounts totaling $50,000 and with various maturity dates. These agreements effectively fix our
LIBOR rate for $25,000 and $25,000 of our Senior Credit Facility indebtedness at rates of 3.97% and 2.91%,
respectively.

Borrowings are collateralized by substantially all of the stock and assets of our operating subsidiaries. The
revolving credit facility and Term A Loan will terminate on September 29, 2008 and the Term B Loan will
terminate on September 29, 2009.

Under the Senior Credit Facility, the Company is required to comply on a quarterly basis with the
following four financial covenants:

« under the leverage ratio covenant, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, the ratio of total funded debt
of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries to consolidated EBITDA of the Company and its
consolidated subsidiaries for the 12-month period then ended must not exceed specified levels,
decreasing various levels from 4.5 to 1 at December 31, 2003 to 4 to I;

» under the senior levérage ratio covenant, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, the ratio of total
funded debt (other than subordinated debt) of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries to
consolidated EBITDA of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the 12-month period then
ended must not exceed specified levels, decreasing various levels from 3.5 to 1 at December 31, 2003 to
3to 1,

» under the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant, as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, for the
12-month period then ended, the ratio of consolidated EBITDA less capital expenditures and cash tax
payments of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries to cash interest expense and scheduled
funded debt payments of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries must be equal to or greater
than certain levels increasing from 1.1 to 1 at December 31, 2003 to 1.2 to 1; and

« under the net worth covenant, Packaging Dynamics consolidated net worth as of the last day of each
fiscal quarter must be equal to or greater than 80% of the net worth as of September 30, 2003 increased
on a cumulative basis by (1) as of the last day of each fiscal quarter, 50% of the consolidated net
income of Packaging Dynamics (to the extent positive) for the fiscal quarter then ended, commencing
with the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2003 and (2) 75% of the net cash proceeds from any equity
issuance by Packaging Dynamics or any subsidiary of Packaging Dynamics.

For purposes of the Senior Credit Facility, consolidated EBITDA, calculated on a consolidated basis for
Packaging Dynamics and its subsidiaries, consists of (1) net income from continuing operations, excluding the
effect of any extraordinary or other non-recurring gains or losses or non-cash gains or losses (in each case,
other than in connection with the closure of the specialty paper operation), plus (2) an amount which, in the
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determination of net income, has been deducted for interest expense, taxes, depreciation and amortization, and
cash and non-cash charges and/or losses with respect to the closure of the specialty paper operation, minus
(3) cash expenditures related to non-cash charges previously added back to net income in determining
EBITDA (other than in connection with the closure of the Specialty Paper operation), plus (4) the write-off
of capitalized financing costs existing as of the closing of the Senior Credit Facility.

The Senior Credit Facility also contains various negative covenants that, among other things, require
Packaging Dynamics and its subsidiaries to limit future borrowings and payments to related parties, and
restricts Packaging Dynamics’ ability and the ability of its subsidiaries to merge or consolidate. In addition, the
Senior Credit Facility prohibits changes in the nature of business conducted by the Company and its
subsidiaries. The failure to comply with the covenants would result in a default under the Senior Credit
Facility and permit the lenders under the Senior Credit Facility to accelerate the maturity of the indebtedness
governed by the Senior Credit Facility.

Seller Note Payable

On July 14, 1999, the Company issued a $3,000 note subordinated to the Senior Credit Facility to the
seller in connection with the purchase of ICI. Interest on this note was at 7.5% payable semi-annually
commencing on December 31, 1999. This note was unsecured and subordinated to the senior credit facility.
The note, which was scheduled to mature on July 14, 2004, was paid off in full on September 30, 2003 in
conjunction with the refinancing of the Senior Credit Facility.

Baxter Springs Facility Loans

The Company has certain obligations under debt agreements with the U.S. Department of Housing and
Urban Development (HUD) in the form of promissory notes payable to the City of Baxter Springs. This loan
was refinanced in the third quarter of 2003. The remaining unpaid principal balance of $700 bears interest at
1.21% as determined by HUD and interest is payable on a semi-annual basis. These notes are payable in
annual installments of $700 through August 2004,

Borrowings are collateralized by a first lien on the land and building at the Baxter Springs, Kansas
production facility and by a second lien on certain machinery and equipment. Under certain circumstances,
repayment of the borrowings is subordinated to the repayment of obligations under the Senior Credit Facility.

Change in Control Provisions

The Senior Credit Facility includes terms that limit changes in the Company’s ownership structure.
Modifications to the ownership structure outside the limits prescribed by such agreements could place the
Company in default under these debt instruments.

Maturities

Maturities of long-term debt greater than one year outstanding at December 31, 2003 are:

Year ending December 31:

2008 $ 6,250
2006 o e 7,250
2007 o e 8,250
2008 e 10,200
2000 e 34,750

$66,700
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Note 7 — Operating Segment Information

With the shutdown of the Detroit paper mill and exit from the Specialty Paper operation, the Company’s
continuing operations consist of a single operating segment comprised of operations which convert paper, film
and foil for use in a variety of food packaging and industrial applications. The results of the Company’s
Specialty Paper operations are presented as Discontinued Operations and discussed in Note 3. The Company’s

- - operations are located in the United States and the Company’s sales to end customers originate in the United

States. During 2003, approximately 93% of net sales from continuing operations are to North American
customers with the remaining 7% to European customers.

Note 8 — Related Party Transactions

PHLLC issued a $12,500 note subordinated to the Senior Credit Facility on November 20, 1998 to
IPMC, Inc., an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Ivex, in connection with the acquisition of the assets of
Ivex’s paper mill operations located in Detroit, Michigan. Interest on this note was paid-in-kind at a rate of
12% on a semi-annual basis. The note was unsecured and matured on November 21 2005. On July 1, 2002,
the note payable, plus accreted interest totaling $19,238, was canceled.

Pursuant to a consulting agreement, PHLLC paid Ivex an annual consulting fee for management and
administrative services rendered to PHLLC by Ivex including financial, tax, accounting and legal services.
During 2003, 2002 and 2001, PHLLC recorded consulting fee expense of zero, $250 and $500, respectively,
related to this agreement. On July 1, 2002, the consulting agreement was canceled.

Note 9 — Income Taxes

Packaging Dynamics’ corporate structure is a C-corporation and, as such, the federal and state taxable
income of the Company and its subsidiaries is recorded on the consolidated income tax returns of Packaging
Dynamics. Prior to the distribution, the members of Packaging Holdings reported federal and state taxable
income on their income tax returns. ICI had remained a taxable C-corporation from the time the Company
acquired it in July 1999 through the date of the distribution.

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences between the financial
statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. In connection with the merger and distribution, Packaging
Dynamics recorded deferred tax assets and liabilities associated with the differences between the financial
statement and tax bases of its consolidated assets and liabilities. The increase in deferred tax liabilities related
to the change in tax status was approximately $9,200.

The components of the income. tax provision on income from continuing operations shown in the

-consolidated statements of operations-are as follows: - O

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001 .
Income tax provision:
CUITENt . i $2,605 $ 455 $399
Deferred . ... 2,131 - 2,066 204

$4,736  $2,521  $603
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The provision recognized for income taxes relating to continuing operations differs from the amount
determined by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate of 35% due to the following:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Income from continuing operations before income taxes ......... -~ . $12,105 $5,968 $4,592
Computed expected provision at the statutory rate............... '$ 4,237 $2,089  $1,607
Adjustments to the computed expected provision resulting from:

Income reported directly to Packaging Holdings members ... ... — 133 (1,206)

Amortization of goodwill ............ ... ... e — — 119

State income taxes, Net ...t - 605 298 69
" Other, net......... e (106) 1 14

$ 4736 $2,521 § 603

Deferred tax liabilities (assets) are comprised of the following:

December 31,

2003 2002
DEPreciation . . ...ttt e $ 3,424 $11,6%4
Intangible assets ... ... i 2,233 1,282
Compensation acCruals .. .........ivtirin i (1,455)  (1,720)
Restructuring accruals . . ... ..ot e (1,707) (22)
NOL carryforward ... ..o e e (1,739) —
Derivative InStruments . .. .. ..ottt i e (158) (462)
OheT . Lo e e 587 (349)

$ 1,185 $10,423

Realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon generating sufficient future taxable income in
the periods in which the assets reverse or the benefits expire. The Company has $4,407 in net operating loss
carryforwards that expire in 2023. The Company has considered the weight of available evidence and
concluded more likely than not that it will realize its recorded tax assets and consequently no valuation
allowance has been established.

Note 10 — Employee Benefit Plans

The Company sponsors two 401 (k) plans. All employees over twenty-one years of age are covered by one
of these plans. Eligibility varies from three to six months following the date of hire. Matching contributions
range depending on the plan. The vesting period ranges from three years to five years. Company contributions
were approximately $823, $784, and $786 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

The Company sponsors a nonqualified deferred compensation plan into which eligible employees may
elect to contribute a portion of their compensation. The Company may, but is not obligated to, make matching
or incentive contributions to the plan. The plan was adopted on January 1, 2003 and Company contributions to
the plan during 2003 were $13.

2001 Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan — PHLLC had an unfunded 2001 Long-Term Incentive
Compensation Plan (the “2001 LTIP”) for certain key executives prior to the distribution. Under the terms of
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this plan, 3,000,000 incentive units, subject to adjustment, and representing 8.2% of the fully diluted
outstanding limited liability shares, had been granted. The plan was designed to reward those individuals on
the increased equity value of PHLLC, and provided that 40% of the incentive units were earned on the
effective date and the remaining 60% could have been earned based upon PHLLC’s attainment of certain
annual earnings targets. Participants in the plan vested on a pro-rata basis over three years from the plan’s
origination date. In the event PHLLC completed a transaction which caused a substantial change in
ownership control, the plan provided for an accelerated vesting schedule. The plan was terminated during
2002.

2002 Long-Term Incentive Stock Plan — On July 1, 2002, Packaging Dynamics granted to management,
" for incentive purposes and in consideration of their waiver of cash payments under the 2001 LTIP, stock
options for the purchase of an aggregate of 814,787 shares of its common stock under the 2002 Long Term
Incentive Stock Plan. Additionally, on July 1, 2002, Packaging Dynamics granted to certain former employees
~ stock options for the purchase of an aggregate of 29,047 shares of its common stock under individual
nonqualified stock option agreements in consideration of their waiver of cash payments under the 2001 LTIP.
The options have an exercise price of $3.90 per share, which was below the fair market value of Packaging
Dynamics’ common stock on the grant date and 730,622 options, although fully vested, are not exercisable for
three years after the grant date. Consequently, for such options the Company has the right to repurchase an
executive’s options if he terminates employment before the end of the three-year period. The Company
recorded a non-cash compensation charge of $2,667 during the year ended December 31, 2002 related to these
management incentive plans.

During 2002, 43,397 options were repurchased from former employees for approximately $i24. These
payments reduced the $2,667 incentive liability recorded in 2002. No options were repurchased in 2003.

Additional information relating to the plans is as follows: o
: Weighted

Shares Under Option Price Average
Option Range Exercise Price
Outstanding at June 30, 2002
Granted ...... ... e 843,834 3.90 3.90
Exercised ......... e (14,350) - 3.90 3.90
Canceled..........ooiiii i, (43,397) 3.90 3.90
Qutstanding at December 31,2002................ . 786,087 3.90 ‘ -390
Granted ...l " 298,000 6.20 - 10.50 9.87
Exercised .........coiiiiiii e (62,739) 3.90 3.90
Canceled........ TS (56,304) 3.90 -390

Outstanding at December 31, 2003 ................ 965,044 .- 390-10.50 - 574
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining
Range of Options Exercise Contractual Options
Exercise Prices Qutstanding Price Life (Years) Exercisable
3.90 667,044 3.90 8.50 —
6.20 - 7.00 46,000 : 6.44 9.13 —
10.50 252,000 10.50 7.00 -
3.90 - 10.50 965,044 5.74 8.14 :

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, there were 357,867 and 599,563 shares available for grant,
respectively. The weighted average fair value at date of grant for options whose exercise price was less than the
market price of the stock on the date of grant during 2002 was $4.25. The weighted average fair value at date
of grant for options whose exercise price was less than the market price on the date of grant during 2003 was
$2.08. The weighted average fair value at date of grant for options whose exercise price was equal to the
market price of the stock on the grant date during 2003 was $2.93. There were no options granted in 2002 for
which the exercise price was equal to the market price on the date of grant. There were no options granted in
2003 or 2002 for which the exercise price was greater than the market price on the date of grant. No options
were granted prior to July 1, 2002.

Note 11 — Commitments and Contingencies
Legal Matters

The Company is currently a party to various legal proceedings in various féderal and state jurisdictions
arising out of the operations of its business. The amount of alleged liability, if any, from these proceedings
cannot be determined with certainty or estimated; however, the Company believes that its ultimate liability, if
any, arising from the pending legal proceedings, as well as from asserted legal claims and known potential legal
claims which are probable of assertion, would not have a material effect on the Company’s financial condition,
results of operations or liquidity.

The Company’s manufacturing operations are subject to federal, state and local regulations governing the
environment and the discharge of materials into air, land and water, as well as the handling and disposal of
solid and hazardous wastes. As is the case with manufacturers in general, if a release of hazardous substances
occurs on or from the Company’s properties or any associated offsite disposal location, or if contamination
from prior activities is discovered at any of the Company’s properties, the Company may be held liable. From
time to time, the Company is involved in regulatory proceedings and inquiries relating to compliance with
environmental laws, permits and other environmental matters. The Company believes that it is in material
compliance with applicable environmental regulations and does not believe that costs of compliance, if any,
will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
Potential liabilities, if any, arising in connection with any such compliance are not currently estimable.

Lease Commitments

The Company occupies certain facilities under lease arrangements and leases certain machinery,
automobiles, and equipment. Rental expense amounted to $1,704, $1,531 and $1,430 for the year ended
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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Future minimum rental commitments, including capital lease obligations, with noncancelable terms in
excess of one year are as follows:

Year ending December 31:

2004 . e e e $1,550
2005 L e e 1,077
2006 . e e e 957
2007 L e e 628
2008 . e e 536
Thereafter . . e e e e _3,909

88,657

Accumulated amortization on capital leases as of December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $19, $0 and $0,
respectively.

Note 12 — Asset Sales and Disposals

The Company continues to identify attractive opportunities to invest in the capabilities of its manufactur-
ing operations. During 2003 and 2002, the Company idled certain converting equipment in its Chicago, Illinois
and Baxter Springs, Kansas manufacturing facilities due to the purchase of five new bag machines in 2003.
These manufacturing improvements and certain other productivity improvements resulted in a loss in 2003
and 2002 of $813 and $1,510, respectively, on the sale or disposal of the equipment.

Note 13 — Restructuring Charge

In January 2000, the Company commenced a restructuring plan, which resulted in a reduction in work
force of 32 people. The restructuring charge included severance and other benefits related to this reduction in
force of $1,250. At December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, there is $18, $54 and $127, respectively, of severance
and other benefits costs remaining to be paid in future periods.

The restructuring charge activity is as follows:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Balance at the beginning of the year................... e $ 54 8127 § 567

Charges taken. . ...... i i e — — —
Payment of severance and benefits .............. ... ... . ... ... .. (36) (73) (440)
Balance at theend of theyear . ........... ... i $18 $54 §127
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Note 14 — Unaudited Quarterly Results

(1)

(2)

(3)

Summarized unaudited quarterly data for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
March 29, June 30, September 30, December 31,

Quarter Ended (1) 2003 2003 2003(2) 2003
Net SAleS « v $59,477  $60,990 $ 60,755 $62,222
Grossprofit ............ .. i 7,928 8,825 8,560 8,659
Income from operations................... 3,744 5,228 3,790 5,017
Net income from continuing operations. . . . .. 1,523 2,321 1,241 2,284
Loss from discontinued operations .......... {456) (806) (17,163) (3,664)
Net income (loss) ..........c.oiveen.. 1,067 1,515 (15,922) (1,380)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations .................... $ 015 § 024 $ 0.12 $ 0.23
Discontinued operations . .................. $ (0.04) $ (0.08) $ (1.73) $ (0.37)
Net income (10ss)(3) ..o, $ 011l $ 0.6 $ (L6l $ (0.14)
March 30, June 29, September 28, December 31,
Quarter Ended 2002 2002 2002 2002(2)
Netsales ...t $55,219  $59,510 $59,286 $63,415
Gross profit ........ ... 6,429 7,460 7,873 8,332
Income from operations .. ................. 2,081 3,679 2,954 3,236
Net income from continuing operations. . .. .. (257) 1,406 1,069 1,229
Loss from discontinued operations .......... (223) (299) (194) (1,800)
Net income (loss) ............. .. n... (480) 1,107 875 (571)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations .................... $ 011 $ 0.3
Discontinued operations . . ................. $ (0.02) $ (0.18)
Net income (loss)(3) .................. $ 0.09 $ (0.05)
The Company recorded management compensation expense related to options of $1,076, $219 and $1,372

during the quarters ended March 30, 2002, June 29, 2002 and September 28, 2002 (see Note 10 —
Employee Benefit Plans).

Includes expense of $806 and $1,264 related to the sale and disposal of certain machinery and equipment
taken out of service during the quarters ended September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002 (see
Note 12 — Asset Sales and Disposals). An additional $246 was recorded in the first nine months of 2002.

Prior to July 1, 2002, the Company ownership consisted of membership units. Accordingly, no earnings
per share information has been presented for any period prior to July 1, 2002.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as
such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e) under the Securitiecs Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation,
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such
period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term
is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter to which this
report related that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Companys
internal control over financial reporting.

PART 1

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information required by Item 10 of this Form is incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement for the May 12, 2004 Annual meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics,” ‘“Nomination and Election of Directors,” “Principal Stockholders™ and
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance;” and in Part I, Item 4, of this Form 10-K under
the caption “Executive Officers of the Company.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by Item 11 of this Form is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement for the May 12, 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions
“Executive Compensation” and “Directors’ Compensation for 2003.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Information required by Item 12 of this Form, is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement for the May 12, 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions
“Principal Stockholders” and “Directors’ Compensation for 2003.”

The following table summarizes additional equity compensation plan information as of December 31,
2003.

(2) (b) (c)
Number of Securities
Weighted Average Remaining for Future
Number of Securities to be Exercise Price of Issuance Under Equity
Issued Upon Exercise of Qutstanding Compensation Plans
Outstanding Options, Options, Warrants (Excluding Securities
Plan Category ) Warrants and Rights and Rights Reflected in Column (A))

Equity compensation plans
approved by security ‘
holders ................. 965,044 $5.74 357,867

Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders ................. — — —

Total.............. ... ... 965,044 5.74 357,867
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information required by Item 13 of this Form is incorporated by reference to the Company’s definitive
Proxy Statement for the May 12, 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by Item 14 of this Form is incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement for the May 12, 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Fees
Paid to Independent Auditors.”

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) (1) Financial Statements
See Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
(a) (2) Schedules

« Schedule I — Condensed Financial Information ....................... Page 52
» Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves ......... Page 54

(a) (3) Exhibits

KN R Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Packaging Dynamics Corporation
3.2 Bylaws of Packaging Dynamics Corporation

4.1 Reference is hereby made to Exhibit 3.1 and Exhibit 3.2,
4.2%* Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Packaging Dynamics Corporation
4.3 Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 1, 2002, by and among Packaging Investors, L.P.,

DCBS Investors, L.L.C., CB Investors, L.L.C. and Packaging Dynamics Corporation (filed on
August 9, 2002 as Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference)

4.4%** First Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 23, 2002, by
and among Packaging Investors, L.P., DCBS Investors, L.L.C., CB Investors, L.L.C.,
Mr. Thomas Wolf and the Company.

4.5 Stockholders Agreement, dated July 1, 2002, by and among Packaging Investors, L.P., DCBS
Investors, L.L.C. and CB Investors, L.L.C. (filed on August 9, 2002 as Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 and
incorporated herein by reference)

4.6%**¥*  Termination of Stockholders Agreement with respect to DCBS Investors, L.L.C. and CB
Investors, L.L.C. dated January 15, 2004.

10.1 Reference is hereby made to Exhibit 2.1, Exhibit 2.2 and Exhibit 2.3.

10.2 Tax Sharing Agreement, dated July 1, 2002, by and between Ivex Packaging Corporation and
Packaging Dynamics Corporation (filed on August 9, 2002 as Exhibit 10 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002 and incorporated herein by
reference)

10.3%%+* Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated September 29, 2003 among Packaging
Dynamics Operating Company, Packaging Dynamics Corporation, each of the subsidiaries of
Packaging Dynamics Operating Company, Bank of America, as Administrative Agent and L/C
Issuer, National City Bank, as Syndication Agent, LaSalle Bank National Association, as
Documentation Agent, and the Lenders party hereto (filed on November 14, 2003 as Exhibit 10.1
to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003
and incorporated herein by reference).
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10.6*

10.7*
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10.9%**
10.10*

10.11#*
10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.15%

10.16%*

10.17%%*

10.18*

10.19%**

10.20**
10.21*

10.22*
10.23**
91,1 **%%
93, 1 Rk*#
3] 1%*¥%

31.2****

32****

Deferred Compensation Agreement dated August 14, 2003 (filed on November 14, 2003 as
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2003 and incorporated herein by reference).

Packaging Holdings, 'L.L.C. Subordinated Note, dated July 1999, payable to Lombard
Investments, Inc.

Loan Agreement, dated December 27, 1993, by and between Bagcraft Corporation of America
and the City of Baxter Springs, Kansas

Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated as of November 20, 1998 by and among Bagcraft
Corporation of America, Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C. and Bagcraft Acquisition, L.L.C.

Commercial Guaranty made as of November 20, 1998 by Bagcraft Acquisition; L.L.C. in favor of
the City of Baxter Springs, Kansas.

Lease, dated October 23, 2002, between the Company and W.O.W,, L.L.C.

Sublease, dated December 16, 1975, E.I. DuPont de Nemours and Company and Bagcraft
Corporation of America, with amendment dated April 30, 1996

Lease, dated November 19, 1999, between 6501 Corporation and Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C.

ISDA® Master Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2001, between Bank of America, N.A. and
Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C.

Interest Rate Swap Confirmation, dated May 30, 2001, from Bank of America, N.A. to
Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C.

Interest Rate Swap Confirmation, dated September 25, 2001, from Bank of America, N.A. to
Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C.

ISDA® Master Agreement, dated as of December 4, 1998, between ABN AMRO Bank, N.V.
and Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C.

Interest Rate Swap Confirmation, dated September 14, 2001, from ABN AMRO Bank N.V.,
Chicago ranch, to Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C.

Severance Agreement, dated as of January 23, 2003, between Packaging Dynamics Corporation
and each of Mr. Phillip D. Harris and Mr. Frank V. Tannura(1)

Severance Agreement, dated August 1, 2000, between Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C. and Jere.my
S. Lawrence(1)

Severance Agreement, dated January 23, 2003, between Packaging Dynamics Corporation and
each of Mr. Henry C. Newell and Mr. Randy L. Van Antwerp(1)

Form of Packaging Dynamics 2002 Long Term Incentive Stock Plan(1)

Packaging Dynamics, L.L.C. 2002 Incentive Compensation Plan for Packaging Dynamics
Executives(1)

Packaging Dynamics LLC Employee 401 (k) Plan(1)
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement(1)
Subsidiaries of Packaging Dynamics Corporation
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act o

2002 :

Certification of CEO and CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

* Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10 filed on April 19, 2002.
** Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Form 10/A Amendment No. I filed on May 21, 2002.

*** Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2002.

**x* Filed herewith.
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(1) Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an Exhibit to this
Form 10-K pursuant to Item 15 (c) of this report.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

Current Report on Form 8-K furnished under Item 12 on October 23, 2003 incorporating a press release
announcing the financial results for the third quarter ended September 30, 2003 and the declaration of a cash
dividend.

(c) Exhibits are attached hereto.
(d) See (a) (1) and (a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the

Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized on March 25, 2004.

PACKAGING DyNaMICS CORPORATION

By: /s/ PHiILLIP D. HARRIS

- Name: Phillip D. Harris .
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of i934, this Report has been signed below’
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities indicated on March 25, 2004. -

Signature Title
/s/ PuiLrip D. HARRIS Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
Phillip D. Harris (Principal Executive Officer)
{s/ HEnNRrRY C. NEWELL Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Henry C. Newell (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ FRANK V. TANNURA Director and Chairman of the Board

- Frank V. Tannura

'/s/ GEORGE V. BAYLY Diréctor
George V. Bayly

/s/ ANTHONY P. ScoTTO Director
Anthony P. Scotto

/s/ WILLIAM J. WHITE ‘ Director
William J. White ‘
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PACKAGING DYNAMICS CORPORATION
SCHEDULE 1 — CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)

December 31,

2003 2002
ASSETS
Investment in affiliates .. ... .ttt e $ 2726 $ 2,726
Due from subsidiaries .. ...ttt e 40,850 58,734
Total ASSEES . .ottt $43,576  $61,460
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY/MEMBERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities: 4

Accrued interest............ e e e $ — 8§ 114

Income tax payable . ... ... i e 249 847

Other liabilities (dividends) ....... ... . i 484 98

Total current Habilities .. ... ...ttt i e e e e 733 1,059
Long Term Debt:

Note payable — Alupac 7.5% . . . .o oot e — 3,000
Other Habilities. . . ... i e et e e e e s 2,120 2,496
Deferred taXeS . oot e e e 1,185 10,423

Total Liabilities . ...ttt e e 4,038 16,978
Stockholders’ Equity/Members” Equity ........ ..o 39,538 44,482
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity/Members’ Equity.............. $43,576  $61,460

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
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PACKAGING DYNAMICS CORPORATION
SCHEDULE I — CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
T TSt B PEISE . & oot $ (168) §$(1,331) $(2,270)
Administrative EXPenSe. . .. .o vttt e — (2,667) —
Other expense .......... e e — — - (13)
Loss before income taxes .. .....oov it i e (168)  (3,998)  (2,283)
Income tax provision (benefit) T 4,736 (210) —
Nt 1088 o oottt ettt e e e e $(4,904) $(3,788) $(2,283)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
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PACKAGING DYNAMICS CORPORATION

SCHEDULE I — CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Doliars in thousands)

For the Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Cash flows used by operating activities:
Nt 1088 Lttt e e $ (4,904) $(3,788) $(2,283)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating : .
activities:
Deferred income taxes .........cc i (9,238) (210) C—
Non-cash Interest .. ...ttt e e e —_ 1,106 2,046
Non-cash charge for long-term incentive compensation.......... — 2,542 —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities . .................... (987) — =
Net cash used by operating activities . .. .................... (15,129) (350) (237)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments of loan obligations ............................ - (3,000) - —
Transfer from (to) subsidiary ...........c..oiiiiiiiiiiiiin... 17,884 (73) 510
Due from members............... e e e - 423 (273)
Other .o e 245 = —
. Net cash from financing activities. . ........................ 15129 . 350 . 237
Net change in cash and cash equivalents.......................... . - = T
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year .................... — -~ —
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year ......................... $ - $ - 5 -
Supplemental cash flow disclosures — Cash paid during the year for:
IeTeSt . e e $ 282 $§ 225 § 224

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.
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PACKAGING DYNAMICS CORPORATION

SCHEDULE I — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
(Dollars in thousands)

Charged to
Beginning (Reversed from) Ending

Description Balance Costs and Expenses  Acquisitions  Deductions Balance
For the year ended December 31, 2003

Allowance for doubtful accounts...... 609 (122) (112) 375

Inventory reserves .................. 241 215 (144) 312
For the year ended December 31, 2002 :

Allowance for doubtful accounts. ..... 373 270 32 (66) 609

Inventory reserves .. ................ 253 230 25 (267) 241
For the year ended December 31, 2001

Allowance for doubtful accounts...... 610 (175) ‘ (62) 373

Inventory reserves .................. 401 38 ' (186) 253
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Phillip D. Harris, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Packaging Dynamics Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made; in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; ‘

" 4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) Allsignificant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and ’

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ PHiLLIP D. HARRIS

Phillip D. Harris
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 25, 2004
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE FINANCIAL PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Henry C. Newell, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Packaging Dynamics Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to
state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and 1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that eccurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ HENRY C. NEWELL

Henry C. Newell
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 25, 2004
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Packaging Dynamics Corporation (the
“Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), Phillip D. Harris, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
and Henry C. Newell, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
§ 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ PHILLIP D. HARRIS

Name: Phillip D. Harris

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 25, 2004

/s/ HENRY C. NEWELL

Name: Henry C. Newell

Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 25, 2004

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall
not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Company for
purposes of §18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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Packaging Dynamics

3900 WEST 43RD STREET
CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60632
773/843-8000
www.pkdy.com




